
 
     
 
               
 

AGENDA - REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL 
Monday, April 22, 2024 @ 2:00 PM 

In the City Hall Council Chambers & Via Video-Conference 
4850 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC 

               

The following pages list all agenda items received by the deadline [12:00 noon on the Wednesday before the 
scheduled meeting].  A sample resolution is provided for most items in italics for the consideration of Council. For 
a complete copy of the agenda including all correspondence and reports please refer to the City’s website 
portalberni.ca or contact Corporate Services at 250.723.2146 or by email corp_serv@portalberni.ca   
 

Watch the meeting live at www.portalberni.ca 
Register to participate via webinar at: https://portalberni.ca/council-agendas-minutes 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
A. CALL TO ORDER & APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

1. Council would like to acknowledge and recognize that we work, live and play in the City of 
Port Alberni which is situated on the unceded territories of the Tseshaht [ci̓šaaʔatḥ] and 
Hupačasath First Nations.  

2. Late items identified by Councillors. 
3. Late items identified by the Corporate Officer. 
4. Notice of Video Recording (live-streaming and recorded/broadcast on YouTube). 
 

That the agenda be approved as circulated. 
 

B. ADOPTION OF MINUTES - Page 7 
1. Minutes of the Special meeting held at 11:30 am and Regular Council meeting held at 

2:00 pm on April 8, 2024, and Special meetings held at 4:00 pm and 4:30 pm on April 
15, 2024 be adopted, as presented. 

 

C. DELEGATIONS 
1. MNP Chartered Accountants | 2023 Financial Statements - Page 14 

Cory Vanderhorst, CPA, CA to present the draft Audited Financial Statements (for 
discussion purposes) for the year 2023. 
 

THAT the Auditor’s Report and the 2023 Audited Financial Statements prepared by 
MNP Chartered Accountants, be received and approved as presented. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.portalberni.ca/
mailto:corp_serv@portalberni.ca
http://www.portalberni.ca/
https://portalberni.ca/council-agendas-minutes
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D. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
Includes items carried forward from previous Council meetings. 
 

1. Western Vancouver Island Industrial Heritage Commission | Railway Operations 
Update | Recommendations from the April 15th Committee of the Whole 
THAT Council direct staff to enter into a one-year agreement with the Western 
Vancouver Island Industrial Heritage Society to operate the Alberni Pacific Railway and 
amend the City’s 2024 - 2028 Five Year Financial Plan to include $113,935 in the capital 
budget and $60,000 in the operating budget. 
 

Staff Report | Committee of the Whole Meeting, April 15, 2024 - Pg. 10 
 

2. Welcome to Port Alberni Sign - Page 53 
Report dated April 15, 2024 from the Project Manager requesting Council 
consideration for a slightly modified Welcome Sign. 
 

That Council for the City of Port Alberni approve a slightly modified Welcome to Port 
Alberni sign and its installation at the Visitor Information Centre (pending approval of 
the Alberni Valley Chamber of Commerce Board) as per the staff report dated April 11, 
2024 to be completed within the allocated Financial Plan amount of $23,194. 
 

E. STAFF REPORTS 
Members of the public may be recognized by Council to speak to a report if the report is a response to 
their correspondence or an application.  
 

1. Accounts 
THAT the certification of the Director of Finance dated April 22, 2024, be received and 
the cheques numbered _____ to _____ inclusive, in payment of accounts totalling 
$_____, be approved. 
 

2. Broombusters Community Event - Page 71 
Event proposal for a community-wide Broombusting event on Saturday May 4th from 
10:00 am to 12:00 pm at Echo Centre as directed by Council at its February 12th Regular 
meeting. 
 

F. BYLAWS 
Bylaws are required for the adoption of regulations, financial plans, changes to land use policy and to 
approve borrowing.  A bylaw requires four separate resolutions to be adopted and must be considered 
over a minimum of two [2] Council meetings. Each reading enables Council to reflect on the bylaw 
before proceeding further. 
 

1. Tax Rates Bylaw - Page 72 
THAT "City of Port Alberni Tax Rates Bylaw No. 5104, 2024" be now finally adopted, 
signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and numbered 5104. 
 

Staff Report | Special Council Meeting, April 15, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.portalberni.ca/sites/default/files/council_mtg/2024_04_15_OPT_COW_Agenda_2.pdf
https://www.portalberni.ca/sites/default/files/council_mtg/2024_04_15%20SCM%20Agenda_Full%20Pkg_0.pdf


Regular Council Meeting AGENDA 
April 22, 2024  P a g e  | 3 
   

P a g e  3 | 6 

 

2. Zoning Bylaw Amendment | 5350 Margaret Street - Page 75 
Report dated April 15, 2024 from the Planner I requesting Council consideration for 
three readings of the proposed bylaw. 
 

a. THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be now 
introduced and read a first time.  

 

b. THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be read a 
second time. 

 

c. THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be read a third 
time. 

 

G. CORRESPONDENCE FOR ACTION 
Correspondence addressed to the Mayor and Council where there is a specific request may be included 
on an agenda. Correspondence regarding personnel matters, legal action and/or items of a confidential 
nature will not be included. Correspondence addressed to Council that is administrative or operational 
in nature will be circulated to Council weekly and referred to the appropriate department for review 
and follow-up where necessary. 
 

1. Riders of Alberni Valley | Support for a Land Use Agreement - Page 90 
Letter dated March 27, 2024 from Riders of Alberni Valley requesting Council support 
for application to the Province of British Columbia for a land use agreement. 
 

THAT Council direct staff to prepare a letter to the Province on behalf of Riders of 
Alberni Valley in support of their application for a land use agreement to maintain and 
possibly build multi-use trails on Crown Land throughout the Maquinna trail system. 

 
2. The Rotary Club of Port Alberni | Colour Fest - Page 92 

Letter dated April 9, 2024 from The Rotary Club of Port Alberni requesting use of Blair 
Park/Kitsuksis Dyke Trail. 
 

THAT Council authorize The Rotary Club of Port Alberni use of Blair Park/Kitsuksis Dyke 
Trail on Saturday, July 20, 2024 from 10:00 am to 3:00 pm for the purpose of a “Colour 
Fest” fundraiser event of which proceeds will be used to support local youth groups 
subject to the following conditions: 

• signed agreement with the Parks, Recreation and Culture department; 
• consultation with all affected businesses/residents; 
• provision of standard liability insurance in the amount of $5M [minimum]. 
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3. ADSS 2024 Parent Prom Committee | Use of City Streets - Page 95 
Letter dated April 12, 2024 from the Parent Committee Parade Chair requesting access 
to City streets for the ADSS graduating class of 2024. 
 

THAT Council authorize the ADSS 2024 Parent Prom Committee access to City streets on 
Saturday, June 22, 2024 from 5:00 to 6:30 pm for the purpose of a prom parade from 
Burde St. to 10th Ave. to Roger St., ending at the Athletic Hall [3727 Roger St] subject to: 

• the notification of emergency services and BC Transit; 
• consultation with all affected businesses/residents; 
• implementation of a Traffic Safety Plan to be approved by the City of Port 

Alberni, including qualified Traffic Control Personnel as required; 
• provision of standard liability insurance in the amount of $5M [minimum]. 

 

H. PROCLAMATIONS 
1. Vancouver Island Economic Alliance | Island Good Days - Page 97 

Email dated March 28, 2024 from Vancouver Island Economic Alliance requesting a 
proclamation. 
 

THAT Council on behalf of Vancouver Island Economic Alliance, proclaim the week of 
June 3-9, 2024 as ‘Island Good Days’ in Port Alberni. 
 

2. United Steelworkers, Local 1-1937 | Day of Mourning - Page 98 
Letter dated March 28, 2024 from United Steelworkers, Local 1-1937 requesting a 
proclamation.  
 

THAT Council on behalf of United Steelworkers, Local 1-1937, proclaim April 28, 2024 as 
‘Day of Mourning’ in Port Alberni and that the National Day of Mourning Flag be flown 
at City Hall at half-mast on April 28th and throughout the following week in respect of 
those who have died on the job.  

 
3. Falun Dafa Association of Vancouver | Falun Dafa Day - Page 99 

Email dated April 9, 2024 from the Falun Dafa Association of Vancouver requesting a 
proclamation. 
 

THAT Council on behalf of Falun Dafa Association of Vancouver, proclaim May 13, 2024 
as ‘Falun Dafa Day’ in Port Alberni. 
 

4. MS Canada | MS Awareness Month - Page 104 
Email dated April 13, 2024 from MS Canada Ambassador Executive requesting a 
proclamation. 
 

THAT Council on behalf of MS Canada, proclaim the month of May 2024 as “MS 
Awareness Month” in Port Alberni and authorize that the MS flag be flown at City Hall 
the week of May 6th in recognition. 
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I. CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION 
Correspondence found here provides information to Council. Correspondence regarding personnel 
matters, legal action and/or items of a confidential nature will not be included. Correspondence 
addressed to Council that is administrative or operational in nature will be circulated to Council weekly 
and referred to the appropriate department for review and follow-up where necessary.  

 

1. Correspondence Summary - Page 109 
a. Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure | Response to City Letter dated 

February 15th Re: Log Train Trail 
b. Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy | Response to City Letter 

dated March 13th Re: Amendment of the Air Discharge Permit for Catalyst Paper 
c. Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy | Public Interest Bonding 

Strategy 
d. Ministry of Housing | Bill 16 Pro-Active Zoning Framework 
e. Ministry of Housing | Small-Scale Multi-Unit Housing Legislation 
f. BC Ferries | Invitation to Charting the Course Workshop 
g. Office of the Ombudsperson | Quarterly Report: October 1 – December 31, 2023 
h. Ministry of Forests | Response to City Letter dated March 15, 2024 Re: Enhanced 

Provincial Support for Port Alberni Paper Mill 
i. Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District | Highlights of the Board of Directors Meetings 

Feb/Mar 2024 
j. Aldred Restaurants | Invitation to McHappy Day® event on May 8th  
k. Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District | March 5, 2024 Minutes of the Accessibility 

Committee 
l. Alberni Valley Museum and Heritage Commission Minutes | March 6, 2024 
m. Traffic Advisory Committee Minutes | July 19, 2023 & January 17, 2024 

 

J. REPORT FROM IN-CAMERA 
1. Office of the Information & Privacy Commissioner for British Columbia - Page 153 

Council releases for public consumption the Office of the  Information & Privacy 
Commissioner for British Columbia Order F24-23, and related redacted documents 
regarding an information request for records. 

 

2. Community Action Initiative | Community Action Team Grants 2024 -Notice of 
Termination of Contribution Agreement 
Council releases for public consumption notice of termination for the contribution 
agreement between the City of Port Alberni and the Canadian Mental Health 
Association BC Division | Community Action Initiative and further, that unspent funds 
be returned to same. 

 

K. COUNCIL REPORTS 
1. Council and Regional District Reports - Page 197 

THAT the Council reports outlining recent meetings and events related to the City’s 
business, be received. 
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L. NEW BUSINESS 
New items of business requiring Council direction as well as an opportunity for Council to raise issues as 
a result of the business of the meeting or to identify new items for subsequent meetings by way of a 
‘Notice of Motion’. 
 

1. Policy | Release of In-Camera Resolutions | Recommendation from the April 15th 
Committee of the Whole 
THAT Council approve Policy No. 3002-6 | Release of In-Camera Resolutions. 
 

Staff Report | Committee of the Whole Meeting, April 15, 2024 - Pg. 162 
 

2. Official Community Plan Update | Recommendation from the April 15th Committee of 
the Whole 
THAT Council support the Official Community Plan Growth and Climate Action ‘What 
We Heard’ report as presented, and further, that Council support the Alternative 
Growth Scenario and GHG Reduction Targets as per the staff report dated April 15, 
2024. 
 

Staff Report | Committee of the Whole Meeting, April 15, 2024 - Pg. 167 
 

3. BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement | 2024-25 - Page 201 
Report dated April 11, 2024 from the Director of Finance requesting Council 
authorization to execute the BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement. 
 

THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to execute the BC Transit | 2024 – 
2025 Annual Operating Agreement between the City of Port Alberni and British 
Columbia Transit as attached to the staff report dated April 11, 2024 and in effect from 
April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025. 
 

4. Asset Retirement Obligations - Page 214 
Report from the Director of Finance providing a summary for the period ending 
December 31, 2023.  
 

THAT the Asset Retirement Obligations for the period ending December 31, 2023 be 
received as outlined in the staff report dated April 17, 2024.  

 

M. QUESTION PERIOD 
An opportunity for the public to ask questions of Council on decisions or recommendations made during 
the course of the meeting. A maximum of three [3] questions will be permitted per speaker. For those 
participating electronically, please use the ‘Raise your Hand’ feature. 
 

N. ADJOURNMENT 
That the meeting adjourn at       PM. 

https://www.portalberni.ca/sites/default/files/council_mtg/2024_04_15_OPT_COW_Agenda_2.pdf
https://www.portalberni.ca/sites/default/files/council_mtg/2024_04_15_OPT_COW_Agenda_2.pdf


MINUTES OF THE IN-CAMERA MEETING OF COUNCIL 
MONDAY, April 8, 2024 @ 11:30 AM 

City Hall Committee Room | 4850 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC 
               
PRESENT:  Mayor S. Minions (Electronic Participation) 
  Councillor D. Dame  
  Councillor J. Douglas  
  Councillor D. Haggard (Chair) 
 Councillor C. Mealey 
 Councillor C. Solda 
 Councillor T. Patola 
 

Staff:  M. Fox, Chief Administrative Officer  
  S. Smith, Director of Development Services | Deputy CAO    
 A. McGifford, Director of Finance 
 S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services  
  

Call to order:  @ 11:31 a.m.  
 

MOVED and SECONDED, THAT Council conduct a special Council meeting closed to the public on the 
basis that one or more matters covered under Section 90 of the Community Charter will be 
considered, specifically outlined as follows: 
 

Section 90 (1)(c)  labour relations or other employee relations; 
 
Section 90 (1)(e) the acquisition, disposition or expropriation of land or improvements and 

where the council considers that disclosure could reasonably be expected to 
harm the interests of the municipality;  

 
Section 90(1) (g) litigation or potential litigation affecting the municipality; 
 
Section 90 (1)(j)  information that is prohibited, or information that if it were presented in a 

document would be prohibited, from disclosure under section 21 of the 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 

 
CARRIED 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 1:58 p.m. 
 

CERTIFIED CORRECT 

 
_____________________________ ______________________________ 
Mayor Corporate Officer 
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MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL 
Monday, April 8, 2024 @ 2:00 PM 

In the City Hall Council Chambers & Via Video-Conference 
4850 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC 

               
Present: Mayor S. Minions [Electronic Participation] 
 Councillor D. Dame 
 Councillor J. Douglas 
 Councillor D. Haggard [Chair] 
 Councillor C. Mealey 
 Councillor C. Solda 
 Councillor T. Patola 
  

Staff: M. Fox, Chief Administrative Officer 
 A. McGifford, Director of Finance 

K. Orchiston, Manager of Asset Management Initiatives 
 S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services | Recording Secretary 
 F. Guevarra, PC Support 
  

Gallery:  3 & 1 Electronically  
 

A. CALL TO ORDER & APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
The meeting was called to order at 2:01 PM. 
 

MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT the agenda be approved, as circulated.  
CARRIED 
 

B. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT the Minutes of the Special meeting held at 4:20 pm and 
Regular Council meeting held at 2:00 pm on March 25, 2024 be adopted, as presented. 
CARRIED 
 

C. DELEGATIONS 
1. Introduction | Manager of Asset Management Initiatives  

Andrew McGifford, Director of Finance introduced Keith Orchiston, Manager of Asset 
Management Initiatives. 

 
D. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Five Year Financial Plan Q&A Summary 
The Director of Finance presented a summary of questions and responses as it relates 
to the 2024-2028 Financial Planning process. 

 
E. STAFF REPORTS 

1. Accounts 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT the certification of the Director of Finance dated April 8, 
2024, be received and the cheques numbered 154641 to 154703 inclusive, in payment 
of accounts totalling $850,367.14, be approved. 
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-160 
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F. BYLAWS 
1. 2024-2028 Financial Plan | Adoption 

MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT “City of Port Alberni 2024 – 2028 Financial Plan Bylaw 
No. 5097, 2024” be now finally adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer 
and numbered 5097. 
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-161 
 

2. Tax Rates Bylaw 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT consideration of "City of Port Alberni Tax Rates Bylaw 
No. 5104, 2024" be deferred to a Special meeting of Council April 15, 2024 in order to 
permit additional information to be presented to Council regarding historical allocation 
of tax rate shares across the classes.   
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-162 

 
G. CORRESPONDENCE FOR ACTION 

1. Loaves and Fishes Community Food Bank Society | Support for Warehouse Project 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT Council direct staff to prepare a letter to the Minister of 
Housing, Infrastructure and Communities on behalf of the Loaves and Fishes 
Community Food Bank Society in support of their funding request to construct the new 
25,000 sq.ft. warehouse in Nanaimo, BC. 
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-163 

 
H. PROCLAMATIONS 

1. Fondation Émergence | International Day Against Homophobia and Transphobia 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT Council on behalf of Fondation Émergence, proclaim 
May 17, 2024 as ‘International Day Against Homophobia and Transphobia’ in Port 
Alberni. 
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-164 
 

2. Walk for Values | Human Values Day 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT Council on behalf of Walk for Values, proclaim April 24, 
2024 as ‘Human Values Day’ in Port Alberni. 
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-165 

 
I. CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION 

The Director of Corporate Services summarized correspondence to Council as follows: 
a. Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District |Food Security Emergency Planning Grant 

Award & Emergency Support Services Grant Award 
b. The Alberni Project Society and HMCS Alberni Museum and Memorial | Invitation 

to the 80th Anniversary of the Sinking of HMCS Alberni Ceremony and Exhibit 
August 21, 2024 

c. Ministry of Agriculture and Food | Invitation to a Presentation on Land Use 
Planning for Agriculture 

d. Association of Vancouver Island & Coastal Communities | United Way BC 2024-
2025 Community Investment Grants 

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - APRIL 22, 2024 9
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e. Town of Osoyoos | Support for Legislative Changes - Personal and Defamatory 
Attacks on Municipal Leaders 

f. PRIMECorp | 2024-2025 Budget 
g. Municipal Pension Retirees’ Association | Support for Council Seniors Advocacy 

Resolution 
 

MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT Council receive correspondence for information, as circulated. 
CARRIED 

 
J. REPORT FROM IN-CAMERA 

 
K. COUNCIL REPORTS 
 Council offered condolences to the family on the recent passing of Jack Payne, former R.C.M.P 
 Officer and City Bylaw Enforcement Officer.  
 
L. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Island Health Community Wellness 2024 Grant Application 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT Council authorize staff to apply for, receive, and 
manage grant funding for the April 12, 2024 intake of the Island Health ‘Community 
Wellness Grant Program’ for $50,000 to develop a Community Well-Being and Safety 
Strategy for the Continuum of Care of safety, security and social services in Port Alberni; 
 

AND FURTHER, THAT Council authorize staff to engage a consultant to develop the 
strategy upon the grant application being successful. 
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-166 
 

M. QUESTION PERIOD 
N. Anderson 
Inquired about the Walk for Values organization, the letter of support from Town of Osoyoos 
regarding personal and defamatory attacks on municipal leaders, and sought additional 
information on the resolution regarding Seniors Advocacy. 
 
B. Kanngiesser 
Inquired regarding the financial plan, taxation rates, service levels, and Council consideration 
to halt construction of the Quay to Quay Pathway. 
 

N. ADJOURNMENT 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT the meeting adjourn at 3:11 p.m. 
CARRIED 
 

CERTIFIED CORRECT 
 
 
 
_________________________ __________________________ 
Mayor Corporate Officer 
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MINUTES OF THE IN-CAMERA MEETING OF COUNCIL 
MONDAY, April 15, 2024 @ 4:00 PM 

City Hall Committee Room | 4850 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC 
               
PRESENT:  Mayor S. Minions (Electronic Participation) 
  Councillor D. Dame  
  Councillor J. Douglas  
  Councillor D. Haggard (Chair) 
  Councillor C. Solda 
  
Regrets: Councillor C. Mealey 
 Councillor T. Patola 
 

Staff:  M. Fox, Chief Administrative Officer  
  S. Smith, Director of Development Services | Deputy CAO    
 A. McGifford, Director of Finance 
 S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services  
  

Call to order:  @ 4:00 p.m.  
 

MOVED and SECONDED, THAT Council conduct a special Council meeting closed to the public on the 
basis that one or more matters covered under Section 90 of the Community Charter will be 
considered, specifically outlined as follows: 
 

Section 90 (1)(l) discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting municipal 
objectives, measures and progress reports. 

 
CARRIED 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 4:10 p.m. 
 

CERTIFIED CORRECT 

 
 
_____________________________ ______________________________ 
Mayor Corporate Officer 
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MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF COUNCIL 
Monday, April 15, 2024 @ 4:30 PM 

In the City Hall Council Chambers & Via Video-Conference 
4850 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC 

               
Present: Mayor S. Minions [Electronically] 
 Councillor D. Dame 
 Councillor J. Douglas 
 Councillor D. Haggard [Chair] 
 Councillor C. Solda 
  
Regrets: Councillor C. Mealey 
 Councillor T. Patola 
  

Staff: M. Fox, Chief Administrative Officer 
 A. McGifford, Director of Finance 
 S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services | Recording Secretary 
 J. Pelech, Manager of Information Services 
  

Gallery:  0 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER & APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
The meeting was called to order at 4:30 PM. 
 

MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT the agenda be approved, as circulated.  
CARRIED 
 

B. BYLAWS 
 

Mayor Minions left the meeting at 4:32 pm.  
 

1. Tax Rates Bylaw 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT "City of Port Alberni Tax Rates Bylaw No. 5104, 2024" 
be now introduced and read for a first time.  
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-167 
 

MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT "City of Port Alberni Tax Rates Bylaw No. 5104, 2024" 
be read a second time. 
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-168 
 

MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT "City of Port Alberni Tax Rates Bylaw No. 5104, 2024" 
be read a third time.  
CARRIED | Res. No. 24-169 

 
C. QUESTION PERIOD 
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D. ADJOURNMENT 
MOVED AND SECONDED, THAT the meeting adjourn at 4:34 p.m. 
CARRIED 
 

CERTIFIED CORRECT 
 
 
 
_________________________ __________________________ 
Mayor Corporate Officer 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To Mayor and Council of the City of Port Alberni: 

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Port Alberni (the "City"), which comprise the

consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statements of operations

and accumulated operating surplus, changes in net financial assets (net debt) and cash flows and related schedules 1

to 4 for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of

our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the

consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2023, and the results of its consolidated operations,

changes in its net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with

Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

As at December 31, 2023, the City has recorded an asset retirement obligation of $40,308,426 for remediation costs

related to sewage lagoons. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for this amount.

Consequently, we were not able to determine whether any adjustments would be necessary to asset retirement

obligation liabilities, tangible capital assets, amortization and accretion expenses, annual surplus, accumulated

surplus or change in net financial assets (net debt) for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities

under Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements

that are those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Other Matter

Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken as a

whole. The current year's supplementary information, including schedules 5 to 11, have been presented for purposes

of additional analysis. We do not express an audit opinion on schedules 5 to 11 because our examination did not

extend to the detailed information therein.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information, consisting of an annual report, which is expected to be made

available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to

communicate the matter to those charged with governance.
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Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern

basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the City’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that

may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future

events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business

activities within the City to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.
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nlyWe communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

Nanaimo, British Columbia

April 22, 2024 Chartered Professional Accountants
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2023

2023 2022

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,807,017 $ 8,111,910
Investments (Note 3) 34,263,623 22,403,771
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 9,933,228 6,529,331
Inventory for resale 50,570 48,064
Investment in government business enterprise (Note 5) 2,404,599 2,741,214

48,459,037 39,834,290

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 9,792,923 11,708,095
Deferred revenue (Note 9) 7,155,985 6,927,514
Refundable deposits 1,970,988 1,250,752
Long-term debt (Note 11, Schedule 3) 21,003,293 12,999,838
Asset Retirement Obligations (Note 12) 42,617,953 -

82,541,142 32,886,199

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (NET DEBT) (34,082,105) 6,948,091

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 18)

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Inventory of supplies 883,822 648,291
Prepaid expenses 297,956 237,277
Tangible capital assets (Note 15, Schedule 1) 200,747,291 152,396,485

201,929,069 153,282,053

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (NOTE 16) $ 167,846,964 $ 160,230,144

Approved on behalf of the City

  Andrew McGifford
  Director of Finance

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
1
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

REVENUE

Taxation (Schedule 4) $ 28,792,070 $ 27,873,962 $ 25,801,595
Sale of services 11,217,673 13,889,841 12,702,238
Other revenue from own sources 1,498,057 1,261,637 1,325,297
Investment income 450,000 1,782,059 623,066
Grants and transfers (Note 17) 6,069,314 14,346,216 3,989,808
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (96,709) (121,662)
(Loss) income from investment in government business (Note 5) - (36,615) 1,840,840

48,027,114 59,020,391 46,161,182

EXPENSES

General government services $ 5,764,459 $ 4,722,610 $ 4,851,527
Protective services 13,686,838 15,073,926 13,741,231
Transportation services 4,930,933 8,012,334 6,589,824
Environmental health services 1,423,933 1,337,703 1,419,095
Environmental and economic development 1,970,286 1,589,825 1,910,139
Recreation and cultural services 8,024,239 9,167,954 7,910,256
Water utility 1,937,328 2,843,718 2,927,816
Sewer utility 1,673,974 8,655,501 3,165,384
Other - - 1,573

39,411,990 51,403,571 42,516,845

ANNUAL SURPLUS 8,615,124 7,616,820 3,644,337

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 160,230,144 160,230,144 156,585,809

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS - END OF YEAR $ 168,845,268 $ 167,846,964 $ 160,230,144

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
2
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (NET DEBT)
As at December 31, 2023

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

ANNUAL SURPLUS $ 8,615,124 $ 7,616,820 $ 3,644,334

Aquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (16,572,386) (16,432,538) (14,443,697)
Amortization - 9,082,957 5,615,586
Accretion - 1,520,017 -
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 96,709 121,662
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets - - 138,000
Increase in Tangible Capital Assets due to Asset Retirement Obligations - (42,617,953) -

(7,957,262) (40,733,988) (4,924,115)

Acquisition of supply inventory - (883,822) (648,291)
Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (297,956) (237,277)
Consumption of inventory of supplies - 648,291 518,079
Use of prepaid expenses - 237,277 139,176

- (296,210) (228,313)

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS ( NET DEBT) (7,957,262) (41,030,198) (5,152,428)

Net financial assets, beginning of year 6,948,091 6,948,091 12,100,520

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS ( NET DEBT) - END OF YEAR $ (1,009,171) $ (34,082,105) $ 6,948,091

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
3

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - APRIL 22, 2024 21



DR
AF

T 
- F

or
 D

isc
us

sio
n 

Pu
rp

os
 O

nly

CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
As at December 31, 2023

2023 2022

Cash provided by (used in):

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Annual surplus $ 7,616,820 $ 3,644,337
Non-cash items

Amortization 9,082,958 5,615,586
Accretion 1,520,017 -
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets 96,709 121,662
Income (loss) from investment in government business enterprise 36,615 (1,840,840)
Actuarial adjustment (132,296) (115,769)
Inventory of supplies (235,531) (130,212)
Prepaid expenses (60,679) (98,102)

Changes in working capital balances
Accounts receivable (3,403,897) (183,015)
Inventory for resale (2,506) 20,895
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,915,172) 3,251,420
Deferred revenue 228,471 1,440,040
Refundable deposits 720,236 198,549

13,551,745 11,924,551

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (16,432,538) (14,443,697)
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets - 138,000

(16,432,538) (14,305,697)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividend from government business enterprise 300,000 300,000
Change in Investments (11,859,852) (2,163,205)

(11,559,852) (1,863,205)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of long-term debt (364,249) (364,250)
Proceeds from long-term debt 8,500,000 -

8,135,751 (364,250)

DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (6,304,894) (4,608,601)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Begining of Year 8,111,910 12,720,513

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 1,807,017 $ 8,111,910

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
4
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies

The City of Port Alberni (the "City") is a municipality in the Province of British Columbia and operates under the
provisions of the Community Charter. The activities of the City are carried out through the following funds:
General Revenue Fund, General Capital Fund, Reserve Funds, Water Revenue Fund, Water Capital Fund,
Sewer Revenue Fund, and Sewer Capital Fund. 

The consolidated financial statements of the City are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board ("PSAB") of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. Significant accounting policies are as follows:

a) Reporting entity

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses,and accumulated
surplus of the City. Inter-departmental balances and transactions have been eliminated.

The City’s business partnership, the Alberni Valley Community Forest Corporation, which is owned and
controlled by the City but not dependent on the City for their continuing operations, are included in the
consolidated financial statements using the modified equity method.

Under the modified equity method, the accounting policies for the wholly owned subsidiary are not adjusted to
conform to those of the city. The Alberni Valley Community Forest Corporation reports under International
Financial Reporting Standards. The City’s investment in this entity is recorded at acquisition cost and is
increased for the proportionate share of post-acquisition earnings and decreased by post acquisition losses
and distributions received.

The City administers certain trusts on behalf of external parties which are excluded from the consolidated
financial statements.

b) Basis of presentation

The City practices fund accounting. Funds are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or
attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations. Funds currently in
use are:

General Revenue Fund

Account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The General
Revenue Fund is the City's operating fund including collection of taxation, administering operations, roads,
policing, fire protection etc.

Capital Funds

Account for all capital assets and unfunded work-in-progress of the City and offset by long-term debt and
investment in capital assets.

5

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - APRIL 22, 2024 23



DR
AF

T 
- F

or
 D

isc
us

sio
n 

Pu
rp

os
 O

nly

CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Basis of presentation (continued)

Reserve Funds

Account for activities within designated funds established for specific purposes with the approval of the Ministry
of Community Development. The funds are governed by bylaws defining their purpose and are funded primarily
by budgetary contributions from the General Revenue Fund plus interest earned on the fund balances.

Water and Sewer Funds

Account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business operations,
where the intent is that costs of providing the services on a continuing basis be financed through user charges.

c) Basis of accounting

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are normally
recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as they are
incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to
pay.

d) Revenue recognition

Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year they are levied. Taxes may be adjusted by the Province by way of
supplementary roll adjustments through the BC Assessment appeal process. Levies imposed by other taxing
authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. Charges for water and sewer usage, solid waste
collection and recreation programs and admissions are recorded as sales of service and are recognized as
revenue when the service or product is rendered by the City. Development contributions are recorded as
contributed tangible capital assets at their fair value on the date of contribution. Other revenue is recorded
when performance of services is complete, amounts are measurable, and collectability is reasonably assured.
Income from investments in government business enterprises is recorded using the modified equity method
based on the annual earnings from the government business enterprise for the year.

e) Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as revenues when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are
met, except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a
liability. Transfers are recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability. Transfer
revenue is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled.

f) Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue includes non-government grants, contributions and other amounts received from third parties
pursuant to legislation, regulation and agreement which may only be used in certain programs, in the
completion of specific work, or for the purchase of tangible capital assets. In addition, certain user charges and
fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. Revenue is recognized in the period
when the related expenses are incurred, services performed, or the tangible capital assets are acquired.
Development cost charges are amounts which are restricted by government legislation or agreement with

6
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Deferred revenue (continued)
external parties. When qualifying expenditures are incurred development cost charges are recognized as
revenue in amounts which equal the associated expenses.

g) Investment income

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned. When required by the funding government or
related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to the investment and forms part of the
deferred revenue balance. Investment income is allocated to various reserves and operating funds on a
proportionate basis.

h) Financial Instruments 

The City recognizes its financial instruments when the City becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value. At initial recognition, the
City may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The City has not
made such an election during the year.

The City subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and all
derivative instruments, except those that are linked to, and must be settled by delivery of, unquoted equity
instruments of another entity, at fair value. Fair value is determined by published price quotations.
Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on the trade date. Net gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. The City has not
presented a statement of remeasurement gains and losses as it does not have any items giving rise to
remeasurement gains (losses). 

Interest income is recognized in the statement of operations. Investments in equity instruments not quoted in
an active market and derivatives that are linked to, and must be settled by delivery of, unquoted equity
instruments of another entity, are subsequently measured at cost. With the exception of those instruments
designated at fair value, all other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the origination, acquisition,
issuance or assumption of financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately
recognized in operating annual surplus . Conversely, transaction costs are added to the carrying amount for
those financial instruments subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost.

i) Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of 90 days or less at
acquisition.

j) Debt

Debt is recorded net of principal repayments and actuarial adjustments.

k) Employee future benefits

The City and its employees participate in a Municipal Pension Plan. The Plan is a multi-employer contributory

7
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

2. Change in Accounting Policy

a) Asset Retirement Obligations

Effective January 1, 2023, the City adopted the Public Sector Accounting Board’s (PSAB) new standard for the
recognition, measurement, and disclosure of a liability for asset retirement obligations under PS 3280 Asset
Retirement Obligations. The new standard establishes when to recognize and how to measure a liability for an
asset retirement obligation and provides the related financial statement presentation and disclosure
requirements.

Under the new standard, a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized at the best estimate of the
amount required to retire a tangible capital asset when certain criteria are met.

The application of the new standard resulted in an asset retirement obligation being recorded in the financial
statements due to the presence of asbestos and a legal obligation to remove the asbestos. The new standard
has been applied prospectively to these consolidated financial statements.

b) Financial Instruments

Effective January 1, 2023, the City adopted the Public Sector Accounting Board’s (PSAB) new
recommendations for the recognition, measurement, and disclosure of financial assets, financial liabilities, and
derivatives under Section PS 3450 Financial Instruments. The new Section is applied prospectively, and prior
periods have not been restated. There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements from
the prospective application of the new accounting recommendations.

3. Investments

Investments include funds invested in Guaranteed Investment Certificates and Money Market Funds with
Raymond James, The Municipal Finance Authority of B.C, and Canaccord Genuity. The investments are
carried at market value which is equal to the carrying value. The investments have various maturity dates
between 90  and 365 days  with a range of interest rates between 4.00% and 5.90%.

4. Accounts Receivable

2023 2022

Property taxes $ 1,412,629 $ 1,032,844
Federal government 311,974 270,485
General 8,208,625 5,226,002

$ 9,933,228 $ 6,529,331

5. Investment in government business enterprise

The investment in the Alberni Valley Community Forest Corporation (AVCFC) is reported as a government

11
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

8. Deferred revenue

Capital grants are restricted to spending on capital project expenses. Other deferred revenue is not restricted.

2023 2022

Opening Balance $ 837,477 $ 579,177
Capital grants, receipts 5,791,771 1,364,796
Capital projects recognized into revenue (5,947,895) (1,106,526)

Capital grants, ending balance 681,353 837,447
Property taxes 2,126,976 1,993,570
Other 1,101,061 918,696
Development cost charges 3,246,595 3,177,801

$ 7,155,985 $ 6,927,514

Development cost charges (DCCs)

Opening Balances $ 3,177,801 $ 1,889,119
Add: DCCs received during the year (16,429) 1,258,272
Add: Interest 85,222 30,410

$ 3,246,594 $ 3,177,801

9. Community Building Fund

2023 2022

Federal Gas Tax Funds

Opening Balance $ 3,115,328 $ 3,812,050
Add: Funding received during the year 872,264 835,923
Less: Amount recognized as revenue (852,924) (1,573,570)
Add: Interest 103,058 40,925

$ 3,237,726 $ 3,115,328

Federal Gas Tax funding is provided by the Federal government. The use of funding is established by a
funding agreement between the City and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM). These funds
may be used towards designated infrastructure projects that help communities build and revitalize public
infrastructure supporting economic growth and a clean environment. These funds are held in the Community
Building Fund Reserve  (see Note 16).

14
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

10. Financial Instruments
The City as part of its operations carries a number of financial instruments. It is management’s position that the 
City is not exposed to significant interest, currency, or credit risks arising from these financial instruments
unless otherwise disclosed.

11. Debt

Debt Reserve Fund

The Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District (ACRD) obtains long-term debt, on behalf of the City, through the
Municipal Finance Authority (MFA), pursuant to security issuing bylaws under the authority of the Local
Government Act, to finance certain capital expenditures.
The MFA is required to establish a Debt Reserve Fund. Each regional district through its member
municipalities who share in the proceeds of a debt issue is required to pay into the Debt Reserve Fund certain
amounts set out in the debt agreements. The MFA pays into the Debt Reserve Fund these monies from which
interest earned thereon less administrative expenses becomes an obligation to the regional districts.
It must then use this fund, if at any time there are insufficient funds, to meet payments on its obligations. When
this occurs, the regional districts may be called upon to restore the fund.

The loan agreements with the ACRD and the MFA provide that, if at any time the scheduled payments
provided for in the agreements are not sufficient to meet the MFA’s obligations in respect to such borrowings,
the resulting deficiency becomes a liability of the City.

As a condition of the loan agreements, the City is obligated to provide security by way of demand notes and
interest- bearing cash deposits (sinking fund balances) based on the amount of the debt. If the debt is repaid
without default, the deposits are refunded to the City. The demand notes are held by the MFA and upon
maturity of the debt, the demand notes are released. As of December 31, 2023, there are contingent demand
notes of $430,810 (2022 - $258,452) that are not recorded in the City’s consolidated financial statements.

Long-term Debt

All debenture debt is owed to the MFA and is reported at gross amount. The City has no debt assumed by
others on its behalf and has assumed no debt for others. Debenture debt by Bylaw is detailed on Schedule 3.
Principal payments on long-term debt as of December 31, 2023,  for the next 5 years are as follows:

Long Term Debt
2024 526,214

2025 526,214

2026 526,214

2027 526,214

2028 526,214

Total $ 2,631,070

15
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

13. Trust Funds

The City operates a cemetery and maintains a cemetery perpetual care fund in accordance with the
Cremation, Internment and Funeral Services Act. The trust fund assets and liabilities are not included in the
consolidated financial statements. As at December 31, 2023, the balance of funds held in trust was $153,915
(2022 - $147,824).

14. Municipal Pension Plan

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The
board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan,
including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit
pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2023, the plan has about
240,000 active members and approximately 124,000 retired members. Active members include approximately
43,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy
of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to
fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which
produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average
future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and
will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.

17

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated a 
$3,761,000 funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.

The City of Port Alberni paid $1,405,041 (2022 - $1,284,120) for employer contributions while employees 
contributed $1,228,428 (2022 - $1,125,857) to the plan in fiscal 2023.

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in 2025.

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions 
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan 
records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and 
reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the plan.
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

14. Tangible capital assets

Tangible Capital Assets are stated at their net book value.

2023 2022

Land $ 10,282,996 $ 10,083,413
Land improvements 4,194,702 4,423,954
Buildings 18,192,201 16,220,457
Machinery and equipment 7,032,128 6,615,726
Engineering structures 2,897,147 2,937,959
Storm Drains 16,551,437 16,224,163
Transportation 8,084,425 7,315,290
Water 25,585,483 24,060,860
Sewer 96,002,396 57,179,718
Leased asset 68,889 68,889

188,891,804 145,130,429
Work-in-progress: Assets under construction not being

amortized 11,855,487 7,266,056

$ 200,747,291 $ 152,396,485

For more information on additions, disposals, and amortization, refer to Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets
(Schedule 1).

No interest was capitalized in 2023 (2022 - $206,695). No amortization has been recorded on work in progress
assets not in use in 2023.

18
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

17. Grants and Transfers

2023 2022

Operating Grants

Federal $ 83,290 $ -

Provincial 1,662,388 1,810,601

Total Government Operating Grants 1,745,678 1,810,601

Local 10,500 8,978

Capital

Federal 10,891,508 1,058,954

Federal/Provincial 1,690,000 1,106,525

12,581,508 2,165,479

Total Government Grants and Transfers 14,337,686 3,985,058
Other Grants - Non Governmental 8,530 4,750

Total Grants and Transfers $ 14,346,216 $ 3,989,808

18. Commitments and Contingencies

a) Regional District Debt
Debt issued by the Regional District of Alberni Clayoquot is a direct joint and several liability of the District 
and each member municipality including the City.

b) Claims for damages
In the normal course of a year, the City is faced with lawsuits and other claims for damages of a diverse 
nature. At year end, the City’s estimated exposure for such liabilities is not considered to be significant. The 
City carried general liability insurance with a private insurance carrier in the amount of $5 million, plus an 
umbrella policy in the amount of $45 million. When claims are paid the expense is charge to the General 
Government expense category.

c) Commitments
The City entered into a long-term contract with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police for the provision of 
police services effective April 1, 2012. Under the terms of this contract, the City is responsible for 90% of 
policing costs. The 2024 estimated cost of this contract is $7,287,407 (2025 - $7,622,452).

19. Budget

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements includes both operating and capital 
budgets. The City of Port Alberni budget was approved by Council on April 27, 2023, with the adoption of the 
Five-Year Financial Plan (2023-2027) Bylaw No 5075, 2023. The chart below reconciles the approved budget 
per the Financial Plan to the budget reported in these consolidated financial statements.

21
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

20. Segmented information (continued)

Environmental health services

The function of environmental health services is to provide for the collection and disposal of solid waste as well
as providing cemetery services to the citizens of Port Alberni.

Environmental and economic development

Environmental development provides services relating to planning, economic development and tourism. The
Planning Department develops and administers land use regulations to ensure an orderly and well-planned
community. Economic Development includes responsibilities for diversification of the economy through
business retention, business attraction and marketing key properties owned by the City.

Recreation and cultural services

The mission of the Parks, Recreation and Heritage Department is to enrich the quality of life of residents and
visitors. The parks, facilities, programs and services are designed and delivered to provide the greatest benefit
to the community as a whole. The Museum Department works with the community to collect, document,
preserve and present all aspects of the cultural heritage of the Alberni Valley and West Coast of Vancouver
Island. Cultural services also contribute towards the information needs of citizens through the provision of
library services in partnership with the Vancouver Island Regional Library.

Water utility

The Water Department provides for the supply and treatment of safe drinking water to the citizens of Port
Alberni.

Sewer utility

The Sewer Department provides for the collection and treatment of wastewater. The accounting policies used
in these segments are consistent with those followed in preparation of the consolidated financial statements as
disclosed in (Note 1). For additional information see Segmented Information (Schedule 2).

21. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

23
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 2: SEGMENTED INFORMATION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

General
government

services
Protective
services

Transportation
services

Environmental
health services

Environmental
and economic
development

Recreation and
cultural services Water utility Sewer utility Other

Consolidated
2023

Budget
(Note 19)

Consolidated
2022

Revenues

Taxation $ 27,873,962 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 27,873,962 $28,792,070 $ 25,801,595

Sale of services 59,918 374,418 415,227 1,748,651 874,933 1,971,980 4,150,373 3,287,104 ,007,237 13,889,841 11,217,673 12,702,238

Other revenue from own sources 533,983 344,647 - 16,729 163,230 - 38,089 32,662 132,296 1,261,637 1,498,057 1,325,297

Investment income 1,007,677 - 7,018 - - - 208,696 231,387 327,281 1,782,059 450,000 623,066

Grants and transfers 11,354,201 - 8,530 - 263,489 1,029,995 - 1,680,000 10,000 14,346,216 6,069,314 3,989,808

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - - - - - - - - (96,709) (96,709) - (121,662)

(Loss) income from investment in government business (36,615) - - - - - - - - (36,615) - 1,840,840

Total Revenues 40,793,126 719,065 430,775 1,765,380 1,301,652 3,001,975 4,397,158 5,231,153 ,380,105 59,020,392 48,027,114 46,161,182

Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 2,727,180 6,585,916 2,735,788 402,563 853,828 4,975,747 685,522 447,701 - 19,414,391 19,763,554 17,187,875

Debt Servicing 81,988 83,777 - - - 21,372 139,094 541,035 - 867,266 580,082 217,452

RCMP Contract - 7,035,396 - - - - - - - 7,035,396 6,730,009 6,043,880

Grants - 5,833 - - 253,163 74,362 - - - 333,358 203,500 539,612

Other Contracts 98,889 - 1,078,530 - 35,654 - - - - 1,213,073 2,294,826 1,220,073

Goods and services 1,505,717 999,499 2,589,875 932,957 390,162 2,845,137 1,231,547 1,442,364 - 11,937,258 9,840,019 11,692,369

4,413,774 14,710,421 6,404,193 1,335,520 1,532,807 7,916,618 2,056,163 2,431,100 - 40,800,596 39,411,990 36,901,261

Amortization 287,493 355,928 1,607,151 2,183 56,591 1,200,802 786,606 4,786,202 - 9,082,956 - 5,615,586

Accretion 21,343 7,576 991 - 427 50,533 949 1,438,198 - 1,520,017 - -

Total expenses 4,722,610 15,073,926 8,012,334 1,337,703 1,589,825 9,167,951 2,843,718 8,655,501 - 51,403,571 39,411,990 42,516,845

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 36,070,516 $(14,354,860) $(7,581,560) $ 427,677 $ (288,173) $ (6,165,978) $ 1,553,440 $(3,424,347) $1,380,105 $ 7,616,820 $ 8,615,124 $ 3,644,337
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 2: SEGMENTED INFORMATION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

General
government

services Protective services
Transportation

services
Environmental
health services

Environmental and
economic

development
Recreation and

cultural services Water utility Sewer utility Other
Consolidated

2022
Budget Consolidated

2021

Revenues

Taxation $ 25,801,595 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 25,801,595 $25,807,573 $24,818,992

Sale of services 82,540 428,627 416,047 1,586,522 338,160 1,614,925 3,900,749 3,152,799 1,181,869 12,702,238 10,895,776 11,318,533

Other revenue from own sources 445,414 526,410 - 14,349 153,874 - 37,038 32,442 115,769 1,325,297 1,215,805 1,230,103

Investment income 351,436 - 1,226 - - - 89,721 18,089 162,594 623,066 280,000 257,138

Grants and transfers 2,385,660 - 4,750 - 254,580 508,895 - - 835,923 3,989,808 1,289,287 3,722,439

Recognition of development cost charges - - - - - - - - - - - 165,907

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - - - - - - - - (121,662) (121,662) - (145,806)

Income (loss) from investment in government
business - - - - 1,840,840 - - - - 1,840,840 - (11,949)

Total Revenues 29,066,645 955,037 422,023 1,600,871 2,587,454 2,123,820 4,027,508 3,203,330 2,174,493 46,161,182 39,488,441 41,355,358

Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 2,318,961 5,229,450 2,760,520 540,949 868,850 4,173,946 788,985 506,214 - 17,187,875 18,983,031 17,141,118

Debt Servicing 21,501 81,287 - - - 22,488 44,518 47,658 - 217,452 505,170 192,007

RCMP Contract - 6,043,880 - - - - - - - 6,043,880 6,053,092 6,683,045

Grants 21,000 235,599 - - 283,013 - - - - 539,612 238,500 332,709

Other Contracts 170,376 - 998,778 - 50,920 - - - - 1,220,074 1,323,539 1,060,218

Goods and services 2,228,907 1,803,729 1,182,894 875,964 638,024 2,618,590 1,095,397 1,247,291 1,573 11,692,369 8,427,873 8,364,424

4,760,745 13,393,945 4,942,192 1,416,913 1,840,807 6,815,024 1,928,900 1,801,163 1,573 36,901,262 35,531,205 33,733,521

Amortization 181,790 347,286 1,647,633 2,183 69,332 1,095,231 907,908 1,364,222 - 5,615,585 - 4,598,806

Total expenses 4,942,535 13,741,231 6,589,825 1,419,096 1,910,139 7,910,255 2,836,808 3,165,385 1,573 42,516,845 35,531,205 38,372,327

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 24,124,110 $ (12,786,194) $ (6,167,802) $ 181,775 $ 677,315 $ (5,786,435) $ 1,190,700 $ 37,945 $ 2,172,920 $ 3,644,337 $ 3,957,237 $ 2,983,031
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 4: TAX LEVIES AND GRANTS IN LIEU OF TAXES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

Tax Levies

General Purpose $ 26,845,136 $ 26,745,407 $ 24,788,520
Off-Street Parking 18,000 18,000 12,882
Utility 786,028 852,834 775,362

27,649,164 27,616,241 25,576,764

Grants in lieu of taxes 229,245 257,721 224,831

Total Municipal Taxes 27,878,409 27,873,962 25,801,595

Collections For Other Governments

School Districts 6,251,695 7,017,775 6,637,778
Alberni Clayoquot Regional Hospital District 682,652 682,652 695,873
Alberni Clayoquot Regional District 1,770,580 1,770,580 1,595,707
B.C. Assessment 190,000 214,261 210,693
Vancouver Island Regional Library 913,661 913,661 839,444
Municipal Finance Authority 700 - 960

9,809,288 10,598,929 9,980,455

Total Taxes Collected $ 37,687,697 $ 38,472,891 $ 35,782,050

28

REGULAR COUNCIL AGENDA - APRIL 22, 2024 45



DR
AF

T 
- F

or
 D

isc
us

sio
n 

Pu
rp

os
 O

nly

CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 5: GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES EXPENSES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

Legislative $ 299,383 $ 303,893 $ 219,472
City manager's office 235,020 263,905 183,924
Municipal clerk's office 1,181,222 682,093 710,094
Legal fees 25,000 22,796 44,144
Financial management 1,064,972 1,011,952 867,926
Administration vehicle 12,271 17,204 25,895
External audit 32,000 39,500 27,650
Purchasing 147,350 142,933 148,844
Buildings 121,876 255,884 258,942
Information services 854,216 764,727 1,006,839
Appraisals - 3,661 23,000
Personnel 402,423 367,916 381,117
Training and development 221,527 222,854 181,502
Damage claims 21,000 4,986 9,091
Grants and grant funded programs 11,000 - 21,000
Office equipment supplies and printing 503,140 674,729 510,866
Public liability insurance 392,878 371,126 373,708
Other general services 45,000 87 443,923
Administration recoveries (503,000) (527,004) (517,200)
Asset Management Plan - 16,976 -
Debt servicing 17,100 82,394 21,798

Total $ 5,084,377 $ 4,722,611 $ 4,942,527
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 6: PROTECTIVE SERVICES EXPENSES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

Police protection $ 8,289,494 $ 9,510,952 $ 8,293,318
Fire protection 4,394,297 4,579,843 4,374,692
Emergency measures 585 7,134 8,457
Building and plumbing inspections 299,213 249,745 169,359
Animal pound operations 149,328 137,778 161,252
Bylaw enforcement 470,142 504,697 652,867
Debt servicing 83,777 83,777 81,287

Total $ 13,686,838 $ 15,073,926 $ 13,741,231
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 7: TRANSPORTATION SERVICES EXPENSES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

Common Services

Engineering administration $ 891,113 $ 760,357 $ 769,991
Engineering consulting services 132,007 511,348 199,781
Public works supervision 455,616 534,152 377,557
Equipment and supplies 43,212 116,497 104,113
Building and yard maintenance 374,398 263,879 278,322
Equipment maintenance 801,400 1,272,217 1,373,670

2,697,746 3,458,450 3,103,434

Road and Street Maintenance

Roadway surfaces maintenance 1,200,334 1,826,908 1,626,901
Snow and ice removal 205,347 194,737 370,452
Parking 16,597 14,055 18,094
Gravel 116,676 130,062 95,616
Bridges and retaining walls 27,496 47,538 44,773
Street lighting 516,539 467,138 457,235
Traffic control 280,816 297,879 326,235

2,363,805 2,978,317 2,939,306

Other

Ditch and dyke maintenance 89,294 125,628 82,017
Storm sewers 332,714 652,060 630,927
Public transit 1,077,555 1,078,198 997,974
Other 94,418 183,535 169,829
Recoveries (1,724,600) (463,854) (1,333,661)

(130,619) 1,575,567 547,086

$ 4,930,933 $ 8,012,334 $ 6,589,824
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 8: RECREATION AND CULTURAL SERVICES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

2023 2022

Budget
Revenue

Actual
Revenue

Budget
Expense

Actual
Expense

Budget
Operating

Deficit

Actual
Operating

Deficit

Actual
Operating

Deficit

Recreation Services

Administration $ - $ - $ 585,207 $ 615,537 $ (585,207) $ (615,537) $ (520,183)
Leisure Centre 235,970 270,634 437,801 700,798 (201,831) (430,164) (332,359)
Swimming pool 221,000 233,601 497,259 586,134 (276,259) (352,533) (299,903)
Arena 537,500 859,618 1,172,721 2,005,645 (635,221) (1,146,027) (1,079,715)
Parks, Playgrounds, and other 18,000 15,080 2,074,853 2,388,891 (2,056,853) (2,373,811) (2,309,159)
Programs 308,900 514,698 2,571,959 1,941,270 (2,263,059) (1,426,572) (1,079,024)

1,321,370 1,893,631 7,339,800 8,238,275 (6,018,430) (6,344,644) (5,620,343)

Cultural Services

Museum services 39,200 48,160 468,359 619,428 (429,159) (571,268) (428,873)
McLean Mill - 29,900 216,079 310,249 (216,079) (280,349) (246,114)

39,200 78,060 684,438 929,677 (645,238) (851,617) (674,987)

$ 1,360,570 $ 1,971,691 $ 8,024,239 $ 9,167,954 $ (6,663,668) $ (7,196,261) $ (6,295,330)
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 9: SALES OF SERVICES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

General Revenue

General services $ 2,772,974 $ 3,399,465 $ 2,767,927
Arena 537,500 859,618 601,595
Leisure Center 235,970 272,095 235,126
Parks, playgrounds and other 18,000 15,080 14,468
Swimming Pool 221,000 233,601 225,799
Programs 308,900 514,698 473,732
Museum 39,200 48,160 34,305
McLean Mill - 29,900 29,900

4,133,544 5,372,617 4,382,852

Miscellaneous Revenue - 1,007,237 1,181,869

Services Provided to Other Governments 50,000 72,509 83,969

Water Revenue

Sale of water 3,668,474 4,010,229 3,897,074
Connections and sundry charges 105,886 140,144 3,675

3,774,360 4,150,373 3,900,749

Sewer Revenue

Sale of sewer services 3,076,894 3,167,634 2,878,349
Connections and sundry charges 182,875 119,470 274,450

3,259,769 3,287,104 3,152,799

$ 11,217,673 $ 13,889,841 $ 12,702,238
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 10: OTHER REVENUE FROM OWN SOURCES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

Licenses and permits $ 585,000 $ 333,327 $ 513,113
Fines and costs 17,000 11,321 13,297
Land and building rentals 186,090 163,230 153,874
Penalties and interest 446,467 379,770 307,565
Miscellaneous revenue 263,500 241,693 221,679
Other revenue from own sources - Capital Fund - 132,296 115,769

$ 1,498,057 $ 1,261,637 $ 1,325,297
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI
SCHEDULE 11: SEWER AND WATER UTILITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Budget
(Note 19)

2023 2022

Water Utility

Administration $ 640,655 $ 901,468 $ 799,113
Service of supply 109,947 369,165 260,952
Pumping 252,530 330,376 346,551
Transmission and distribution 934,197 1,197,971 1,476,683
Debt servicing 44,000 44,737 44,518

$ 1,981,329 $ 2,843,718 $ 2,927,816

Sewer Utility

Administration 717,607 1,012,999 1,738,230
Sewage treatment and disposal 357,427 6,087,341 292,976
Sewage collection system 267,815 729,795 556,702
Sewage pump stations 330,099 284,332 529,818
Other 1,000 - -
Debt servicing 452,305 541,035 47,658

$ 2,126,253 $ 8,655,501 $ 3,165,384
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of April 22, 2024 

               
 
 

Date:  April 11, 2024 
File No:  6280-20-WS 
 

To:  Mayor & Council 
From:  M. Fox, CAO 
Subject: Welcome to Port Alberni Sign 
               
 

Prepared by: 
 

E. BOROVICA 

Project Manager 
 

Supervisor: 

J. MACDONALD 

DIRECTOR OF 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
SERVICES 

CAO Concurrence: 
 

 
 

Mike Fox, CAO  

 

RECOMMENDATION 
That Council for the City of Port Alberni approve a slightly modified ‘Welcome to Port Alberni’ sign and its 
installation at the Visitor Information Centre (pending approval of the Alberni Valley Chamber of Commerce 
Board) as per the staff report dated April 11, 2024, to be completed within the allocated Financial Plan amount 
of $23,194. 

 
PURPOSE 
To seek Council approval for a slightly modified Welcome Sign and its installation at the Visitor Information 
Centre (pending Chamber Board approval). 
 
BACKGROUND 

1. Council previously approved $25,000 for a Welcome to Port Alberni sign; $23,194 remains.  
2. A design was chosen by Council after a process that involved the community.  
3. The design was put to tender and came back over budget. 
4. The sign was slightly modified and locally sourced to achieve budget.  

 
On April 6, 2020 Council directed that $25K be allocated to design work and $125K in grant funding be sought 
for a ‘Welcome to Port Alberni’ sign (Res. No. S20-88).  
 
On April 27, 2020 after a presentation from the AV Chamber CEO, Council directed that staff prepare a report 
with two or three alternate designs including cost estimates for Council’s consideration (Res No R20-116). 
 
On September 28, 2020, the Chamber CEO presented some sign concepts at a Regular Council meeting along 
with an estimated cost of $43,490.  The Minutes note that ‘Council will review the proposal and communicate 
with the Chamber prior to finalizing the project’. 
 
Following that meeting, a number of unsolicited designs were received by the Chamber. 
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The Chamber CEO was a delegation to Council at the RCM of February 8, 2021 presenting those alternate sign 
designs and a cost estimate for one of them.   
 
On June 14, 2021, Council directed staff to prepare a detailed report based on the sign submitted by Susan 
Roth and to include costs associated with sign development, installation and maintenance.  (Res. No. R21-134). 
A staff report was not completed.  
 
The City’s Project Manager obtained three quotes for the production and installation of the sign this year.  They 
ranged from $53,500 to $87,500.  At that point the Project Manager sought a modification of one of the sign’s 
dimensions which involved compacting its depth from six (6) feet to one (1) foot.  Although this affects the 
three- dimensional nature of the sign, it makes it more robust and reduces the installation footprint. Both of 
those modifications reduce the cost of the sign.  The alterations included ensuring an unceded territories 
acknowledgement would be on the sign. 
  
ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 

1. That Council for the City of Port Alberni approve a slightly modified ‘Welcome to Port Alberni’ sign and 
its installation at the Visitor Information Centre (pending approval of the Alberni Valley Chamber of 
Commerce Board) as per the staff report dated April 11, 2024, to be completed within the allocated 
Financial Plan amount of $23,194.  

2. Install the slightly modified sign at the location previously selected for it (John St. and Johnston Rd.) at 
the north-east boundary of the City on Highway 4.  

3. Source additional funding to meet the price of the tender for the original design and installation.                     
 
ANALYSIS 

Option 1: Install the slightly modified sign at the Visitor Information Centre 
Pro: In house modifications and sole sourcing of the fabrication and installation brings the production and 
installation to within the $23,194 remaining in the sign budget. The sign is similar in design to the original 
but more robust. The sign would be assembled and painted and its more compact depth would lower 
installation requirements. Installing at the Visitor Information Centre location (pending Chamber approval 
April 25, 2024) will capture the traffic on both Highway corridors into Port Alberni and can be completed 
this summer. The Ministry of Transportation [MOTI] is reported to like the idea of the sign on this site.   
 

Con: Neither the sign modifications nor the proposed new site were considered by Council previously. The 
modifications alter the sign design chosen by Council and placement may provide a proception that the 
City’s boundary is located at the Junction of the two entries into Port Alberni. 
 
Option 2: Install the slightly modified sign at the location previously selected for it at the north-east 
boundary of the City on Highway 4 
Pro: Installing at the original John St. and Johnston Road location has current authorization and MOTI 
support and depicts the true boundary of the City Port Alberni. The sign would be installed on time and on 
budget meeting Council’s previous directive.    
 

Con: The design originally chosen by Council is now proposed to be modified and the sign may be 
diminished with future development in the area.  
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Option 3: Source additional funding to meet the price of the tender for the original design and installation. 
 Pro: This option will provide a sign that is engineered and designed to the original artistic concept and as 
selected by Council June 14, 2021.  
 

 Con: The significant cost increases may lead to funding challenges and project delays.        
   
IMPLICATIONS 
Approval of the modification of the sign allows this project to be completed on time and on budget regardless 
of location chosen by Council. If installed at the Visitor Information Centre, it would be in a location that has 
historically hosted a Welcome to Port Alberni sign. Maintenance of the sign and asset management / 
replacement considerations require $3,000 to be added to the budget annually. Completing this project aligns 
with previous Council direction and meets a goal set for administration. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
The City would seek the opinion of the Tseshaht First Nation and Hupacasath First Nation on the wording of the 
land acknowledgement. The Manager of Communications would be asked to prepare media releases about the 
sign.   
 
BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
The following goals in Council’s 2023-2027 Corporate Strategic Plan are met with this initiative: 
1.1 Community continues on a thoughtful path of reconciliation;   
5.1 The community is aesthetically appealing  

 
SUMMARY 
Administration recommends that Council approve the slightly modified sign for installation it at the Visitor 
Information Centre location (assuming Chamber Board approval).  
 
ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS 

1. Concept Design 
2. Proposed Sign Location 
3. MOTI approval for sign at John Street and Johnston Road  
4. Report to Council | Welcome Sign | October 26, 2020 
5. Report to Council | Welcome Sign Background | April 27, 2020 
6. PowerPoint Presentation | Alberni Valley Chamber of Commerce | April 27, 2020 
7. PowerPoint Presentation | Alberni Valley Chamber of Commerce | February 8, 2021 
8. Letter from Alberni Valley Chamber of Commerce dated June 25, 2021 | Late Submission 

 
 
c: S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services 

J. MacDonald, Director of Infrastructure Services 
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI 
 

BYLAW NO. 5104 
 

A BYLAW FOR THE LEVYING OF TAX RATES FOR MUNICIPAL, 
REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT, REGIONAL DISTRICT AND OFF-STREET 

PARKING PURPOSES FOR THE YEAR 2024 
 
WHEREAS Section 197 of the Community Charter, R.S.B.C. 2003 c. 26 requires a Council, on 
or before May 15th in each year, to adopt a bylaw to impose tax rates on all taxable land and 
improvements according to their assessed value in order to provide the money required for all 
lawful general purposes of the municipality, and other purposes permitted under the Community 
Charter. 
 
THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ALBERNI IN OPEN MEETING 
ASSEMBLED ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. Title 
 

This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "City of Port Alberni Tax Rates Bylaw No. 
5104, 2024". 

 
2. Tax Rates 
 

The following rates are hereby imposed and levied for the year 2024: 
 

(a) General Municipal Purposes Rate 
 

For all lawful general purposes of the municipality on the value of land and 
improvements taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing in Column I of 
Schedule "A" which is attached hereto and forms part of this Bylaw. 

 
(b) General Municipal Debt Rate 

 
For debt purposes on the value of land and improvements taxable for general 
municipal purposes, rates appearing in Column II of Schedule "A" which is attached 
hereto and forms part of this Bylaw. 

 
(c) Regional Hospital District Rate 

 
For purposes of the Alberni-Clayoquot Regional Hospital District on the value of land 
and improvements taxable for regional hospital district purposes, rates appearing in 
Column III of Schedule "A" which is attached hereto and forms part of this Bylaw. 

 
(d) Regional District of Alberni-Clayoquot Rate 

 
For purposes of the Regional District of Alberni-Clayoquot on the value of land and 
improvements taxable for regional hospital district purposes, rates appearing in 
Column IV of Schedule "A" which is attached hereto and forms part of this Bylaw. 
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(e) Special Rate - Off-Street Parking 

 
For purposes of the specified area described in "Off-Street Parking Loan Authorization 
Bylaw, No. 1, 1971" No. 2087 on the value of land and improvements taxable for 
general municipal purposes, rates appearing in Column V of Schedule "A" which is 
attached hereto and forms part of this Bylaw. 

 
(f) General Municipal Vancouver Island Regional Library Rate 

 
For Vancouver Island Regional Library purposes on the value of land and 
improvements taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing in Column VI of 
Schedule "A" which is attached hereto and forms part of this Bylaw. 

 
3. Effective Date 
 

The aforementioned rates and taxes shall be considered to have been imposed on and from 
the first day of January, 2024. 

 
4. Payment 
 

The aforementioned rates and taxes shall be due and payable at the Office of the Collector 
of the City of Port Alberni at the City Hall, Port Alberni, in the Province of British Columbia. 

 
5. Repeal 
 

That " City of Port Alberni Tax Rates Bylaw No. 5083, 2023” is hereby repealed. 
 
 
 
 

READ A FIRST TIME this 15th day of April, 2024. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME this 15th day of April, 2024. 
 
READ A THIRD TIME this 15th day of April, 2024. 
 
FINALLY ADOPTED this      day of           , 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

    
Mayor Corporate Officer 
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I II III IV V VI

Property 
Class

General 
Municipal Debt

Alberni 
Clayoquot 
Regional 
Hospital

Alberni 
Clayoquot 
Regional 
District

Off 
Street 

Parking

Vancouver 
Island 

Regional 
Library

Residential 4.67720 0.03311 0.12824 0.34983 0.32717 0.16777

Utilities 27.80396 0.19680 0.44883 1.22439 0.99735

Supportive 
Housing 4.67720 0.03311 0.12824 0.34983 0.16777

Major Industry 59.22928 0.41924 0.43600 1.18941 2.12459

Light Industry 38.66814 0.27370 0.43600 1.18941 1.38705

Business 13.36645 0.09461 0.31418 0.85708 0.93499 0.47946

Managed 
Forest Land 14.03161 0.09932 0.38471 1.04948 0.50332

Non-Profit 4.67720 0.03311 0.12824 0.34983 0.32717 0.16777

Farm 4.67720 0.03311 0.12824 0.34983 0.16777

SCHEDULE "A" TO BYLAW # 5104

2024 TAX RATES (DOLLARS OF TAX PER $1,000 TAXABLE VALUE)
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of April 22, 2024 

               
 
 

Date:  April 15, 2024 
File No:  3360-20-5350 Margaret 
 

To:  Mayor and Council 
From:  M. Fox, Chief Administrative Officer 
Subject: DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION – Zoning Bylaw Amendments at 5350 Margaret Street, Port 

Alberni  
Lot 1, District Lot 11, Alberni District, Plan 1047, (PID: 007-922-957) 
Lot 2, District Lot 11, Alberni District, Plan 1047 (PID: 007-922-981) 
Lot 3, District Lot 11, Alberni District, Plan 1047, (PID: 007-922-990) 

Applicant:  B. Dame 
              
 

Prepared by: 
 
 
 
H. Stevenson 
Planner I 

Supervisor:  
 
 

B. McLoughlin  
Manager of Planning  

Director: 
 
 
 
S. Smith, Dir. of Development 
Services | Deputy CAO 

CAO Concurrence: 
 

 
 
M. Fox, CAO 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS(S) 
a. THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be now introduced and read a first 

time.  
b. THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be read a second time.  
c. THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be read a third time.   

PURPOSE  
To consider a Zoning Bylaw amendment (Bylaw 5101) for the properties at 5350 Margaret Street. Amendments 
would enable a subdivision to create three small residential lots.  
 
BACKGROUND   
5350 Margaret Street consists of four individual legal parcels. All four lots are designated ‘Residential’ in the 
Official Community Plan (OCP) and are classified ‘P1 Institutional’ in Zoning Bylaw No. 5074, 2023. The 
surrounding neighborhood is a mix of lower-density residential, institutional, and parks and recreation zoning.  

Lots 3 and 4 are occupied by an existing building, historically used as a church and dwelling unit. A daycare facility 
is now operated out of the building. Lots 1 and 2 are currently vacant having previously been used as a parking 
area for the church. Proposed amendments are for Lots 1, 2, and a small portion of Lot 3 only (subject properties). 
See Figure 1.  

Legislative Changes to Public Hearings in BC (Bill 44) 
Recent changes to the Local Government Act under Bill 44 prohibit Council from holding a Public Hearing on 
Zoning Bylaw amendments for housing that are consistent with the Official Community Plan (OCP). From the 
LGA: 
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464(3)  A local government must not hold a public hearing on a proposed zoning bylaw if: 
a) an official community plan is in effect for the area that is the subject of the zoning bylaw, 
b) the bylaw is consistent with the official community plan, 
c) the sole purpose of the bylaw is to permit a development that is, in whole or in part, a residential 

development, and  
d) the residential component of the development accounts for at least half of the gross floor area of 

all buildings and other structures proposed as part of the development. 
 
Subject Property and Site Context  
The subject properties are located at the corner of Pleasant Road and Margaret Street just south of Tsuma-as 
Elementary School.  

Location North-west corner of Pleasant Road and Margaret Street intersection.  
Current Land Use Residential  
Current Zoning  P1 Institutional  
Proposed Zoning  R3 Small Lot Single-Detached Residential  
Total Area  1194.3 m2 (0.3 acres) 
Official Community Plan 
(OCP) 

• Schedule A – Land Use Map  
• Section D Plan Policies – 4.0 Residential  

 

 

Figure 1 – Subject Property Map 
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Figure 2 - OCP Land Use Map Figure 3 – Zoning Map 
  

 
ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS  

1. THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be now introduced and read a first 
time.  

 THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be read a second time.  

  THAT “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101” be read a third time.   

2. Council may decline to give first reading.  
 

3. Council may direct staff to provide additional information.  
 
ANALYSIS  
The applicant is proposing to rezone lot 1, lot 2, and a portion of lot 3 at 5350 Margaret Street to enable a 
subdivision. The subdivision would create three small residential lots fronting Pleasant Road. See Figure 4 
where the new lot configuration is outlined in orange. The remaining portion of lot 3 and lot 4 at 5350 
Margaret Street would remain P1 Institutional. See Figure 5. Below is a summary of the proposed amendments 
to the Zoning Bylaw:  

1. Change the zoning classification from ‘P1 Institutional’ to ‘R3 Small Lot Single-Detached Residential’ in 
the Zoning Bylaw.  
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Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 4602 
The subject properties are designated Residential (RES) in the OCP. The proposed R3 zone aligns with RES land 
use designation. OCP policy encourages residential infill provided that it aligns with the character of the 
surrounding neighbourhood. The proposed R3 zone enables gentle infill that suitably aligns with the 
surrounding low-density residential neighbourhood. 
 

OCP Section  OCP Text  
Section 2.0 Land Use 
Designations   

Residential (RES): Permits one and two family residential.  

Section 4.2.4 Residential 
(RES) Council Policy  

The City supports the development of residential infill provided that the 
scale and character are suitably integrated into the adjacent 
neighbourhood.  

 
Consistency with Official Community Plan  
The OCP should be interpreted broadly when determining Council’s ability to hold a Public Hearing on a rezoning 
application for housing development. Staff have reviewed the application and determined that it aligns with the 
OCP. Accordingly, Council is prohibited from holding a Public Hearing by section 464(3) of the Local Government 
Act.  
 

Figure 5 – Proposed Zoning  

 

REMAINS (P1) 
INSTITUTIONAL 

CHANGES TO (R3) 
RESIDENTIAL 
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The determination by staff considers the following:  
• The subject properties are designated Residential and the proposal is consistent with this land use 

designation.  
• The proposal is consistent with policies for Residential land use including policy on infill development.   

 
Zoning Bylaw No. 5074 
The proposed R3 zone aligns with the surrounding low-density neighbourhood, and proposed lots meet the 
requirements of the R3 zone. If amendments are adopted, a portion of lot 3 would have split zoning until a 
subdivision plan is subsequently registered with the Land Titles Office.   
 
The existing building on lots 3 and 4 does not meet the rear-yard setback requirement of the P1 zone, however 
the proposal does not impact or worsen this non-conformity. The building also straddles the shared lot line. 
The applicant will be required to consolidate lots 3 and 4 as a condition of subdivision.  
 

Zoning Bylaw Section  Zoning Bylaw Text  
Section 6.2.2 Location of 
Buildings  

No principal building shall be located so as to be within more than one lot, 
except where one or more of the lots is an air space parcel. 

 
Staff Notes:  

• The remaining P1 property would be required to meet parking requirements for all uses.  
• Civic addressing would be assigned at time of subdivision.  

Floodplain Bylaw No. 4288  
The subject properties are located within lands outlined in the Floodplain Bylaw No. 4288, however the most 
up-to-date floodplain mapping (Somass Watershed Flood Management Plan) indicates that the subject 
properties are not located within the flood extent and are therefor not subject to minimum flood construction 
levels.  

Small-Scale Multi Unit Housing (SSMUH) Legislation Zoning Update  
The City will be required to update it’s Zoning Bylaw by June 30, 2024 to align it with new Provincial small-scale 
multi-unit housing legislation (SSMUH) which will enable up to four (4) dwelling units on most traditionally low-
density residential lots within the City.  
 
Although the applicant’s intention is for three single-detached residential lots, future zoning would enable up to 
four (4) dwelling units on each of the subdivided properties. This would also apply to all surrounding R1 and R2 
properties. 
 
Infrastructure & Servicing  
The properties would be connected to City services and the applicant is responsible for the cost of all necessary 
upgrades. Infrastructure requirements would be reviewed with consideration for potentially higher density 
under SSMUH zoning updates. The applicant will be required to provide servicing information for review as a 
part of the subdivision application process.  
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Referrals  
The application was referred to external agencies and internal departments. A summary of responses is attached 
to this report, including comments from BC Hydro and Fortis BC. If amendments are adopted, items would be 
addressed during the subdivision application process. 

IMPLICATIONS  
Supporting the proposed bylaw amendment would enable a subdivision to create three small-lot residential 
properties at 5350 Margaret Street.   
 
COMMUNICATIONS  
The Advisory Planning Commission (APC) passed a motion at their January 18th, 2024 meeting recommending 
that Council support the application. The draft APC summary minutes are attached to this report.  
 
Where Council is prohibited from holding a Public Hearing, notice must be given prior to 1st Reading. This is a 
new change under section 467 of the Local Government Act. Notices were mailed to owners and occupants of 
all properties within 100 metres. Notices were also advertised in the newspaper for two consecutive weeks and 
posted to the City’s website and bulletin board. A total of 55 letters were mailed.  

Summary of Feedback from Public Notice 
Two (2) letters of correspondence were received in response to the public notices. Feedback is summarized 
below and the letters are attached to this report for review. Correspondence will be accepted until noon on the 
day of the Council Meeting (April 22nd).  

1. Concerns for potential height of new buildings and sunlight protection for neighbouring properties.  
2. Concern that the lot size is too small.  
3. Concern over a lack of parking in consideration of the adjacent daycare and nearby school. 

BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
 

1. Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 4602: 
Proposed zoning aligns with the RES land use designation and residential infill policy in the OCP: 
a) Residential (RES): Permits one and two family residential.  
b) The City supports the development of residential infill provided that the scale and character are 

suitably integrated into the adjacent neighbourhood.  
 

2. Zoning Bylaw No. 5074:  
      Below is a summary of proposed amending bylaw no. 5101: 

a) Change the classification of lots 1, 2, and a portion of 3 at 5350 Margaret Street from “P1 
Institutional’ to ‘R3 Small Lot Single Detached Residential’ on the Zoning Bylaw map.   

 
SUMMARY 
The City has received an application for zoning bylaw amendments at 5350 Margaret Street that would enable a 
subdivision to create three small lot residential properties. The application proposed to rezone the subject 
properties to ‘R3 Small Lot Single Detached Residential’ in the Zoning Bylaw. Staff recommend that Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw No. 5101 now be introduced and given first, second, and third readings.  
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ATTACHMENTS 

1. Referrals Response Summary   
2. Advisory Planning Commission January 18, 2024 DRAFT Meeting Minutes   
3. Public Notice Responses  
4. Draft “Zoning Amendment (5350 Margaret Street), Bylaw No. 5101” 

 
C: S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services 
 A. McGifford, Director of Finance  

J. MacDonald, Director of Infrastructure Services  
R. Gaudreault, Building Official  
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Attachment 1: Referral Response Summary 
 

The following table contains comments received in response to referrals for Zoning amendments for the 
properties at 5350 Margaret Street. 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Referrals Sent Date: Wednesday, December 6, 2023  

Legal Descriptions: Lots 1-3, District Lot 11, Alberni District, Plan VIP1047 PID's:  L1: 007-922-957, L2: 
007-922-981, L3: 007-922-990 

 No further responses were received from other referral agencies by the date of this report. 

Agency/Dept Date Comments 

BC Hydro 12/6/2023 Note no pole for direct servicing of #4 so if building is <10m from secondary & 
only 200A could have midspan, otherwise pole required for servicing. 

City Prks-
Recreation-

Culture  

12/6/2023 No Comments / Concerns 
 

RCMP 12/6/2023 No Comments / Concerns 

City 
Community 

Safety 

12/6/2023 No Comments / Concerns 

City Fire  12/7/2023 No Comments / Concerns 

Can Post Reg 12/11/2023 If approved the project will be served by delivery to the door.  No equipment 
on private or public property required. 

Hupacasath 
Nation 

12/12/2023 No Comments / Concerns 

City 
Infrastructure 

Services 

12/14/2023 From Manager of Operations:  No Comments / Concerns 

Fortis 12/14/2023 FortisBC currently has an existing service to the existing home at 5350 
Margaret St. It is 4.1m south of the addition, which would therefore be on the 
subdivided lot. It looks as though it will be within the set back so it should not 
conflict with new building footprints. Based on this, we require an SRW. 
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o Current zoning on four lots owned by the applicants is P1 Institutional.  Zoning on the portion 

of the site currently occupied by a former church building will remain P1 Institutional.  The 
remainder of the site will be rezoned to ‘R3 Small Lot Single Detached Residential’ with the 
intent to subdivide.  Civic addressing will be assigned at the time of subdivision. 

o New provincial legislation with regard to Zoning Bylaw update – Staff will work with the 
applicants to synchronize the timing for adoption of the amendment as necessary.  

 
Motions: 
 
1. That the Advisory Planning Commission recommends to City Council that Council support the 

application. 
(Washington / McRuer) CARRIED 

 
5. Updates from the Director of Development Services 

• OCP  
- City is moving forward with public engagement on the policy development phase. 
- Online engagement will take place Feb 8 – 19 
- Open House sessions are scheduled for February 14th and February 15th. 
- Consultants have been engaged to do data analysis on the community and the information 

will inform Planning staff in the creation of  long-term development strategies for the 
management of growth, climate goals, infrastructure and recreational needs in the 
community (‘Complete Communities’). 

- The former Somass lands now owned by the City will be considered during the OCP 
process but will not be focused on in detail. 

• City revenue sources – The City only has the authority to generate revenue as authorized by the 
Province. New legislation has widened the scope of local governments with respect to DCC and 
Amenity charges. 

• Discussion around the inconsistency of grant funding as a revenue item in the City budget. It 
was noted that City budget must account for long term capital plans. 

 
6. Other Business:  

 
7. Adjournment – The meeting adjourned at 1:00 pm.  The February 15, 2024 meeting will be 

cancelled and the next regular meeting is scheduled for 12:00 pm on Thursday, March 21, 2024. 
 
 
 
 
        
(Chair) 
 
 
 
APC-SummaryMinutes-Jan18-2024 
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CITY OF PORT ALBERNI 
 

BYLAW NO. 5101 
 

A BYLAW TO AMEND PORT ALBERNI ZONING BYLAW NO. 5074, 2023 
 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Port Alberni in Open Meeting Assembled Enacts as 
follows: 
 
1. Title 
 

This Bylaw may be known and cited for all purposes as "Zoning Amendment (5350 
Margaret Street) Bylaw No. 5101”. 

 
2. Zoning Amendment 
 

The properties legally described as Lot 1, District Lot 11, Alberni District, Plan VIP1047 
(PID: 007-922-957); and Lot 2, District Lot 11, Alberni District, Plan VIP1047 (PID: 
007-922-981); and a portion of the property legally described as Lot 3, District Lot 11, 
Alberni District, Plan VIP1047 (PID: 007-922-990); all located at 5350 Margaret Street 
and shown shaded in gray on Schedule A attached hereto and forming part of this 
bylaw, are hereby rezoned from 'P1 Institutional' to 'R3 Small Lot Single Detached 
Residential' zone. 

 
3. Map Amendments 
 

Schedule “A” (Zoning District Map) which forms an integral part of Port Alberni 
Zoning Bylaw, Bylaw No. 5074 is hereby amended to denote the zoning outlined in 
Section 2 above. 

 
READ A FIRST TIME this   day of      , 2024. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME this    day of      , 2024 
 
READ A THIRD TIME this   day of    , 2024.  
 
FINALLY ADOPTED this   day of     , 2024.  

 
 
 
 _______________________________   _______________________________  
Mayor  Corporate Officer 
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Order F24-23 

 
CITY OF PORT ALBERNI 

 
Alexander R. Lonergan 

Adjudicator 
 

March 27, 2024 
 

CanLII Cite:  2024 BCIPC 30 
Quicklaw Cite:  [2024] B.C.I.P.C.D. No. 30 
 
Summary:  An applicant requested access to reports that the City of Port Alberni 
(City) received from SLR Consulting (Canada) Ltd. (SLR) about land that the City 
sought to purchase from Western Forest Products Inc. (WFP). SLR and WFP 
objected to disclosure, arguing that s. 21(1) (disclosure harmful to a third party’s 
business interests) of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 
(FIPPA) applies to most of the information in the reports. After considering SLR 
and WFP’s positions, the City released a small amount of information while 
severing most of the information under s. 21(1). The adjudicator determined that 
the City is required to refuse to disclose most, but not all, of the disputed 
information under s. 21(1). The adjudicator ordered the City to disclose the rest 
of the information in dispute to the applicant.  
 
Statutes Considered:  Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act,  
 RSBC 1996 c. 165, ss. 2(1), 21(1), 21(1)(a), 21(1)(b), 21(1)(c)(i), 21(1)(c)(ii), 
21(1)(c)(iii), 23(1), 54. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
[1] The City of Port Alberni (City) hired SLR Consulting (Canada) Ltd. (SLR), 
to create reports about land that the City wished to purchase from Western 
Forest Products Inc. (WFP). An individual (the applicant) requested that the City 
provide him with access to the completed reports under the Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA).1  
 
[2] The City identified three reports in response to the applicant’s request. 
The City notified SLR and WFP about the information that was relevant to them 

 
1 All sectional references in this Order refer to FIPPA unless otherwise noted. 
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and sought their positions under s. 23(1).2 SLR and WFP initially objected to the 
City disclosing most of the information in the records under s. 21(1) (disclosure 
harmful to business interests of a third party).  
 
[3] After considering the third parties’ positions, the City decided that it was 
required to refuse access to almost all of the information in the records under 
s. 21(1). The City only disclosed parts of one report to the applicant, which I 
understand SLR and WFP do not object to. 
 
[4] The applicant requested that the Office of the Information and Privacy 
Commissioner (OIPC) review the City’s decision. Mediation did not resolve the 
matter and it proceeded to inquiry.  
 
[5] The City and the applicant provided written submissions for this inquiry. 
The OIPC invited SLR and WFP, under s. 54, to participate in the inquiry as 
appropriate persons, and they both provided written submissions. The OIPC 
permitted WFP to submit some of its submission in camera (that is, material 
which only the adjudicator may see).  
 
ISSUE AND BURDEN OF PROOF 
 
[6] The issue I must decide in this inquiry is whether s. 21(1) requires the City 
to refuse to disclose the information in dispute.  
 
[7] Under s. 57(1) of FIPPA, the City has the burden of proving that the 
applicant has no right of access to the information withheld under s. 21(1).  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Background3 

 
[8] The City is a local government located in central Vancouver Island. SLR is 
a corporation in the business of environmental consulting and land remediation. 
WFP is a corporation in the business of producing and selling building materials. 
WFP owns real estate assets in and near the City. 
 
[9] WFP sold a former lumber mill site (Land) to the City. Some time before 
the sale completed, the City retained SLR to produce the three reports at issue in 
this inquiry. These reports are about the environmental conditions of the Land 

 
2 Section 23 specifies when and how a public body must or may give notice to third parties when 
the public body believes the record contains information that may be excepted from disclosure 
under ss. 18.1, 21 or 22. 
3 This background information is based on the information provided in the City, SLR, WFP, and the 
applicant’s submissions. 
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and its vicinity, the suitability of the Land for real estate development, and SLR’s 
recommendations for environmental remediation work. 
 
Records and Information in Dispute  
 
[10] In response to the applicant’s request, the City identified three records:  

1. A report dated January 29, 2021 (the January 29 Report); 
2. A report dated April 30, 2021 (the April 30 Report); and 
3. A report dated August 4, 2021 (the August 4 Report). 

 
[11] After considering the third parties’ positions, the City refused access to all 
of the information in the January 29 Report and the August 4 Report but only 
refused access to some information in the April 30 Report. 
 
[12] In his inquiry submission, the applicant says that he no longer disputes 
any of the severing in the April 30 Report. He also says that he no longer 
disputes the decision to refuse him access to the parts of the January 29 Report 
that WFP does not want disclosed.4 As the applicant no longer wants that 
information, I conclude the City’s decision to refuse him access to it under 
s. 21(1) is no longer in dispute and I will make no decision about it.  
 
[13] However, the applicant is still seeking access to some other information 
withheld in the January 29 Report and the entire August 4 Report. Therefore, this 
is the only information remaining in dispute for this inquiry. 
 
[14] In reply to the applicant’s submission, WFP says that it no longer objects 
to the City disclosing the portions of the January 29 Report that remain in 
dispute. Additionally, WFP says that it takes no position on the City’s decision to 
refuse access to the August 4 Report. WFP takes this position because the City 
told WFP that there is no information about WFP in the August 4 Report and did 
not provide a copy of it to WFP.5 Therefore, I understand WFP’s position to be 
that it still objects to disclosing any information in the August 4 Report that was 
supplied by WFP to the City, if any such information exists.  
 
[15] SLR asserts that the City must refuse to disclose all of the information in 
the January 29 Report and the August 4 Report.6  
 
[16] I will refer to the January 29 Report and the August 4 Report collectively 
as the “Reports”. 

 
4 Applicant’s submission at pp. 2 and 4. The severing in the January 29 Report that he no longer 
disputes is information that WFP says must be withheld on p. 1, part of pp. 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 and all 
of pp. 10, 11, 13, 15, and 17. 
5 WFP’s initial submission at paras. 8 and 10; and WFP’s final submission at para. 2. WFP says it 
has never seen that report and it was told by the City that it contains no information about WFP. 
6 SLR’s initial submission at p. 3. 
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[17] The disputed information includes a summary of services performed by 
SLR, a description and analysis of the structural and environmental conditions of 
the Land, a discussion of possible uses for the Land, an outline of the applicable 
regulatory framework, possible funding sources, and recommended remediation 
steps. The disputed information also includes costing and scheduling projections 
if SLR were to perform the remediation work. 
 
Section 21(1) - Harm to Third Party Business Interests 
 
[18] Section 21(1) requires a public body to refuse to disclose information if 
disclosure could be reasonably expected to harm the business interests of a third 
party. In relation to an access request under FIPPA, a “third party” is any person, 
group of persons or organization other than the person who made the request or 
a public body.7 In this matter, both WFP and SLR are third parties. 
 
[19] The parts of s. 21(1) that are relevant to this inquiry are as follows:  
 

21 (1) The head of a public body must refuse to disclose to an applicant information 
(a) that would reveal  

. . .  
(ii) commercial, financial, labour relations, scientific or technical 

information of or about a third party, 
(b) that is supplied, implicitly or explicitly, in confidence, and 
(c) the disclosure of which could reasonably be expected to 

(i)  harm significantly the competitive position or interfere significantly 
with the negotiating position of the third party, 

(ii)   result in similar information no longer being supplied to the public 
body when it is in the public interest that similar information 
continue to be supplied, 

(iii)  result in undue financial loss or gain to any person or 
organization, . . . 

 
[20] Past orders have established a three-part analytical framework to 
determine the applicability of s. 21(1), which I will adopt for this matter. The City 
must satisfy all three parts of the test in order for the information to be properly 
withheld under s. 21(1): 

1. Disclosing the information at issue would reveal the type of information 
listed in s. 21(1)(a); 

2. The information at issue was supplied, implicitly or explicitly, in confidence 
under s. 21(1)(b); and 

 
7 See Schedule 1 of FIPPA for definitions.   
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3. Disclosing the information at issue could reasonably be expected to cause 
one or more of the harms set out in s. 21(1)(c).8  

 
Type of Information – s. 21(1)(a) 
 
[21] The City and the third parties varyingly characterize the information as 
“financial”, “commercial”, “scientific” and “technical”, information.9  The applicant 
did not directly discuss how this information should be characterized. Although 
FIPPA does not define these terms, past orders have considered the meaning of 
most of them. I will consider each category independently.  
 
[22] “Financial information” relates to prices charged for goods and services, 
assets, liabilities, expenses, cash flow, profit and loss data, operating costs, 
financial resources, or arrangements.10  
 
[23] Some of the disputed information consists of cost estimates for SLR’s 
recommended environmental remediation actions. This information is about the 
City’s estimated costs if it were to specifically hire SLR to perform this work. 
Given that this information is specifically about the price of SLR’s services, I find 
that it is financial information about SLR. 
 
[24] “Commercial information” relates to a commercial enterprise but need not 
be proprietary in nature or have an independent market or monetary value. The 
information itself must be associated with the buying, selling or exchange of the 
entity’s goods or services.11  
 
[25] The records contain a description of services that SLR agreed to provide 
to the City. Elsewhere, there are descriptions of services that SLR offers to 
provide in the future. I accept that this is commercial information about SLR 
because it is associated with the use of SLR’s goods and services. This finding is 
consistent with past orders that characterized lists of a third party’s agreed 
services as its commercial information.12  
 
[26] “Technical information” is information belonging to an organized field of 
knowledge falling under the general categories of applied science or mechanical 
arts. Technical information usually involves information prepared by a 

 
8 Order 03-02, 2003 CanLII 49166 (BC IPC); Order F17-14, 2017 BCIPC 15 (CanLII) at para. 9; 
and Order F22-33, 2022 BCIPC 37 (CanLII) at para. 25. 
9 SLR’s initial submission at p. 6-7; WFP’s initial submission at paras. 24-28; and City’s 
submission at p. 2. 
10 Order F22-35, 2022 BCIPC 39 (CanLII) at para. 82. Order F22-63, 2022 BCIPC 71 (CanLII), at 
para. 33; Order F17-41, 2017 BCIPC 45 (CanLII), at para. 59. 
11 Order 01-36, 2001 CanLII 21590 (BC IPC), at para. 17; and Order F08-03, 2008 CanLII 13321 
(BC IPC), at para. 63. 
12 Order 03-04, 2003 CanLII 49168 (BC IPC), at para. 22. 
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professional with the relevant expertise, and describes the construction, 
operation or maintenance of a structure, process, equipment, or entity.13 
 
[27] A substantial amount of the disputed information describes applied, 
structural, or hydrogeological engineering problems and solutions. The Reports 
include many descriptions of equipment, structures, and processes jointly written 
by a professional agrologist and a professional engineer on behalf of SLR. Other 
information is about regulatory compliance processes which required agrology 
and engineering expertise to prepare. I am satisfied that this information is 
technical information of SLR. 
 
[28] I am not satisfied that all of the disputed information can be characterized 
as financial, commercial, or technical information. Therefore, I must also consider 
whether this remaining information may be properly characterized as “scientific”.  

 
[29] I am not aware of any orders that closely considered the definition of 
“scientific information” in the context of FIPPA. In several matters, former 
Commissioner Flaherty determined that environmental sampling was both 
“scientific” and “technical” information.14 Similarly, Commissioner McEvoy 
determined in Order F10-06 that veterinary testing of fish samples and 
information about related veterinary treatment programs was properly 
characterized as scientific or technical in nature.15 
 
[30] The modern approach to statutory interpretation requires the term 
“scientific information” to be read in its entire context and according to its 
grammatical and ordinary sense, harmoniously with the scheme and object of the 
Act and the intention of the legislature.16 The intent of FIPPA and its legislative 
purposes are identified in s. 2(1) which are to “make public bodies more 
accountable to the public” and to “protect personal privacy.” Those purposes are 
achieved, in part, by “giving the public a right of access to records” and by 
“specifying limited exceptions to the right of access.”17 
 
[31] As a starting point, the Canadian Oxford Dictionary defines the adjective 
“scientific” as follows: 

1 a (of an investigation etc.) according to rules laid down in exact science for 
performing observations and testing the soundness of conclusions.  
b systematic, accurate. 2 used in, engaged in, or relating to (esp. natural) 

 
13 Order F10-06, 2010 BCIPC 9 (CanLII), at para. 35; Order F12-13, 2012 BCIPC 18 (CanLII), at 
para. 11; and Order F23-32, 2023 BCIPC 38 (CanLII), at para. 18. 
14 Order No. 56-1995, 1995 BCIPCD No. 26 at p. 5 (petition for judicial review dismissed); Order 
No. 57-19951995 CanLII 19204 (BC IPC), at p. 4; Order No. 67-1995, 1995 CanLII 390 (BC IPC) 
at p. 4; and Order No. 130-1996, 1996 CanLII 370 (BC IPC), at p. 3.  
15 Order F10-06, 2010 BCIPC 9 (CanLII), at para. 36. 
16 Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd. (Re), 1998 CanLII 837 (SCC) at para. 21; and Castillo v. Castillo, 2005 
SCC 83 (CanLII), at para. 22. 
17 Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, RSBC 1996, c. 165, at ss. 2(1)(a) and (c). 
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science (scientific discoveries; scientific terminology). 3 constituted of scientists 
(the scientific community).18 

 
[32] I note that Ontario’s FIPPA contains an equivalent provision to s. 21(1). 
The Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario has used the following 
definition of “scientific information”: 

Scientific information is information belonging to an organized field of knowledge 
in the natural, biological or social sciences, or mathematics. In addition, for 
information to be characterized as scientific, it must relate to the observation and 
testing of a specific hypothesis or conclusion and be undertaken by an expert in 
the field.19 

 
[33] In my view, the Ontario Commissioner’s definition accords with the 
grammatical and ordinary use of “scientific information” and does not appear to 
substantially differ from the relevant dictionary definition. Therefore, I will adopt 
this same definition of “scientific information” for the present analysis. 
 
[34] Most of the remaining information consists of SLR’s explanations of the 
Land’s chemical, biological, and environmental characteristics. Elsewhere, SLR 
recommends specific testing processes that would answer critical unknown data 
points. I am satisfied that this information is properly characterized as the 
scientific information of SLR.  
 
[35] I can see that a very small amount of information in the August 4 Report is 
historical information about the biological, chemical, and structural characteristics 
of the Land during WFP’s ownership of it. Furthermore, WFP is the party that 
gathered this information and shared it with the City under certain conditions. The 
source and nature of this information satisfy me that it is the technical and 
scientific information of WFP.  
 
[36] In summary, I find that almost all of the disputed information is scientific, 
technical, financial, or commercial information of or about a third party, satisfying 
the first requirement of the s. 21(1) analysis. 
 
[37] A small amount of the information identifies SLR as the author of the 
disputed records and briefly explains why the reports were written. Elsewhere, 
the information consists of disclaimers and boilerplate acceptable usage 
statements. It is not apparent to me, and the parties do not persuasively explain, 
how this is technical, scientific, financial, or commercial information. I find that 
this information is none of the types of information listed in s. 21(1)(a). 
 

 
18 Canadian Oxford Dictionary, 2d ed, sub verbo “scientific”. 
19 Order PO-4164, 2021 CanLII 63771 (ON IPC) at para. 25, citing Order PO-2010, 2002 CanLII 
46412 (ON IPC) at p. 3; The New Brunswick’s then-Commissioner also applied the same definition 
in its Report of Findings: 2010-105-AP-048, 2012 NBOMB 8 (CanLII), at para. 114. 
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Supplied in confidence – s. 21(1)(b) 
 
[38] The second step of the analysis is to determine whether the disputed 
information was supplied to the City in confidence. Past orders have conducted 
the s. 21(1)(b) analysis by first considering whether the information was 
“supplied” by the third party and then whether it was supplied “in confidence”, 
both of which are required to engage s. 21(1)(b).20 I will apply the same two-step 
approach to s. 21(1)(b) in this matter. 
 
Was the information “supplied”? 
 
[39] Information is considered “supplied” under s. 21(1)(b) if it is “provided or 
furnished” to the public body.21 

 
[40] It is clear from the material before me, and the parties do not dispute, that 
WFP originally provided some information directly to the City who in turn gave it 
to SLR. SLR then summarized and analyzed this information, added its own 
explanations and suggestions, and then provided the disputed records directly to 
the City. I find that all of the disputed information was supplied to the City by 
WFP, SLR, or both of them depending on the specific information at issue.  
 
Was the supply of information “in confidence”? 
 
[41] Under s. 21(1)(b), the City must show that the disputed information was 
supplied in confidence, either implicitly or explicitly. To do so, the City must show 
that the information was supplied under an objectively reasonable expectation of 
confidentiality, by the supplier of the information, at the time the information was 
supplied.22 
 
[42] A reasonable expectation of confidentiality can be shown by pointing to 
express assurances of confidentiality or by establishing an implicit expectation 
after considering all of the relevant circumstances. Evidence of a party’s 
subjective intentions with respect to confidentiality is insufficient.23  
 
  

 

 
 

20 Order 01-39, 2001 CanLII 21593 (BC IPC), at para. 26, upheld and cited by Canadian Pacific 
Railway v. British Columbia (Information and Privacy Commissioner), 2002 BCSC 603; and Order 
F14-28, 2014 BCIPC 31 (CanLII) at paras. 17-18. 
21 Order 01-20, 2001 CanLII 21574 (BC IPC), at para 93. 
22 Order 01-36, 2001 CanLII 21590 at para. 23. 
23 Order 01-39, 2001 CanLII 21593 (BC IPC), at para. 28, citing Re Maislin Industries Ltd. and 
Minister for Industry (1984) 1984 CanLII 5386 (FC), 10 DLR (4th) 417 (FCTD) and Timiskaming 
Indian Band v. Canada (Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs) (1997) 1997 CanLII 5125 (FC), 
148 DLR (4th) 356 (FCTD). 
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Parties’ Positions, s. 21(1)(b) 
 

[43] The City argues that a non-disclosure agreement that it previously 
executed with WFP (2019 NDA) extends to the Reports it received from SLR. 
The City says that this is because the 2019 NDA restrains disclosure of “all 
written information disclosed to the City”.24 I understand the City is arguing that all 
of the disputed information it received from SLR and WFP was supplied explicitly 
in confidence. 
 
[44] The applicant says that the City now owns the Land and therefore any 
information about the Land belongs to the tax-paying public.25 In essence, this is 
an argument that a third party cannot reasonably expect confidentiality over 
information about an asset if that asset was sold to a public body. I will consider 
this argument below when determining whether the third parties’ expectations of 
confidentiality were objectively reasonable. 
 
[45] Both WFP and SLR submit that they expected the City to keep the 
information that they supplied confidential.26 Both provided affidavit material and 
other documents to support their positions.  
 

Analysis and Findings, s. 21(1)(b) 
 
[46] I accept that the 2019 NDA is persuasive evidence of an express, mutual, 
and reasonable expectation of confidentiality over the information WFP supplied 
to the City. WFP supplied this information before the City had purchased the 
Land which means that there was a risk the deal would not complete. If the deal 
did not complete, then I am satisfied both parties would want to keep this 
information confidential to prevent other prospective buyers from using it to their 
advantage in their efforts to buy the Land. It makes sense that WFP would make 
the City sign an NDA that covers this information to protect its interests as the 
seller of the Land. In light of those concerns, I consider WFP’s expectation of 
confidentiality to be objectively reasonable.  
 
[47] However, the information supplied by WFP only comprises a small amount 
of the information that is still in dispute. The larger question at this stage of the 
analysis is whether SLR reasonably expected the City to keep its scientific, 
technical, commercial, and financial information confidential when SLR supplied 
that information to the City. 
 
[48] I am not persuaded by the City’s argument that the 2019 NDA applies to 
everything in the Reports. WFP attached a copy of the 2019 NDA to its affidavit 
evidence which allows me to see what it actually says. I cannot describe what the 

 
24 City’s submission at p. 2. 
25 Applicant’s request for review at p. 1. 
26 WFP’s initial submission at para. 15; and SLR’s initial submission at p. 3. 
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2019 NDA actually says without revealing material provided to me in camera. In 
my view, neither the list of parties to the 2019 NDA, nor its definition of 
“Confidential Information”, can possibly be interpreted as extending its effects to 
the whole of the Reports or to SLR. However, there is still other evidence I have 
to consider. 
 
[49] The 2019 NDA was not the only agreement purportedly restraining the use 
of the disputed information. SLR provided affidavit evidence which refers to 
a contract between itself and the City named the “Agreement for Environmental 
Services”. SLR says that this contract explicitly states that the disputed records 
were provided to the City in strict confidence.27 Although a copy of the 
Agreement for Environmental Services is not before me, I do have a description 
of its effects, a reference to it in a sworn affidavit, and a reference to it in the 
disputed records. Based on this material, I accept that this agreement existed 
and that it expressly assured SLR that its supplied information would be kept 
confidential by the City.  
 
[50] The disputed records provide additional evidence of SLR’s expectations of 
confidentiality. For example, most pages of the Reports are marked with the word 
“confidential”. Furthermore, both Reports contain a statement that “Other than by 
[the City] and as set out herein, copying or distribution of this report or use of or 
reliance on the information contained herein, in whole or in part, is not permitted 
unless payment for the work has been made in full and express written 
permission has been obtained from SLR.”28 I accept that all of this is persuasive 
evidence of a reasonable expectation of confidentiality on SLR’s part.  
 
[51] Past orders have considered whether a “mutuality of understanding” 
between a public body and a third party existed when assessing third party’s 
expectations of confidentiality.29 In this matter, I accept that the Agreement for 
Environmental Services and the confidentiality provisions in the Reports are 
persuasive evidence of a mutual understanding of confidentiality as between the 
City and SLR.  
 
[52] Having considered the material and circumstances above, I am satisfied 
SLR supplied the information explicitly in confidence to the City, and that the City 
received it on that basis. Next, I must determine whether this expectation was 
reasonable. 
 
[53] I understand one of the applicant’s arguments to be that it was 
unreasonable for SLR to expect that information about the Land would remain 

 
27 SLR’s initial submission at p. 3; and Affidavit #1 of D.M. at paras. 4 and 9. 
28 This excerpt was disclosed in open argument in SLR’s initial submission at p. 7. 
29 Order 4-06, 2004 CanLII 34260 (BC IPC), at para. 53; and Order F19-24, 2019 BCIPC 26 
(CanLII), at para. 28. 
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confidential considering that the City is a public body that now owns the Land.30 I 
find this line of reasoning unpersuasive because it assumes that all of the 
disputed information is about the Land while disregarding what the disputed 
information reveals about SLR and WFP. The fact that the City bought the Land 
does not change the fact that disclosure would also reveal considerable 
information about the third parties.  
 
[54] Furthermore, the 2019 NDA, the Agreement for Environmental Services, 
and the third parties’ affidavit evidence clearly establish that the third parties 
expected they would suffer harm if the information were disclosed after the City 
bought the Land. These harms, which I will discuss in greater detail under the 
third step of the s. 21(1) analysis, were feared by SLR and WFP primarily 
because the disputed information reveals as much information about them as it 
does about the Land. In these circumstances, I find that the third parties’ 
expectations of confidentiality were reasonable. 
 
[55] In summary, I accept that all of the disputed scientific, technical, 
commercial, and financial information in the Reports was supplied explicitly in 
confidence, so s. 21(1)(b) applies. 
 
Reasonable Expectation of Harm – s. 21(1)(c) 
 
[56] The last step of the s. 21(1) analysis is to determine whether disclosing 
the disputed information could be reasonably expected to result in any of the 
harms set out in s. 21(1)(c). If so, the City must refuse to disclose the disputed 
information. The standard of harm under s. 21(1)(c) is “a reasonable expectation 
of harm” which is “a middle ground between that which is probable and that 
which is merely possible.”31  
 
[57] The City does not need to prove on a balance of probabilities that the 
expected harms will actually happen. Instead, the City must establish that 
disclosure will result in a risk of harm that is well beyond the merely possible or 
speculative. Additionally, there must be a clear and direct connection between 
disclosure of the information in dispute and the harm alleged.32 Whether this 
standard has been met depends on the circumstances of each matter because 
the unique probabilities and harms that are present will determine the type and 
amount of evidence that is sufficient.33  
 

 
30 Applicant’s request for review at p. 1. 
31 Order 10-20, 2001 CanLII 21574 (BC IPC) at para. 57; Order 01-36, 2001 CanLII 21590 (BC IPC) 
at para. 38; and Merck Frosst Canada Ltd. v. Canada (Health), 2012 SCC 3 (CanLII), [2012] 1 SCR 
23, at para. 196; Lavigne v. Canada (Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages), 2002 SCC 
53 at para. 58; and Ontario (Community Safety and Correctional Services) v. Ontario (Information 
and Privacy Commissioner), 2014 SCC 31 (CanLII) [Ontario] at paras. 52-54. 
32 Order F07-15, 2007 CanLII 35476 (BC IPC), at para. 17.  
33 Ontario, supra note #31 at para. 54. 
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[58] In their submissions, the parties raise the harms set out under 
ss. 21(1)(c)(i), (ii) and (iii).34 I will first consider s. 21(1)(c)(i) (harm to competitive 
or negotiating position), then, if needed, s. 21(1)(c)(iii) (undue financial loss or 
gain) and s. 21(1)(c)(ii) (similar information no longer being supplied to the public 
body). 
 

Significant harm to competitive position or interference with negotiating 
position, s. 21(1)(c)(i) 
 
[59] Section 21(1)(c)(i) says that the head of a public body must refuse to 
disclose the disputed information if doing so could reasonably be expected to 
harm significantly the competitive position, or interfere significantly with the 
negotiating position, of the third party.  
 
[60] To engage s. 21(1)(c)(i), the expected harm must also be significant, 
because s. 21(1) does not operate to protect third parties from all negative 
effects that flow from their dealings with public bodies.35 Significant harm under 
s. 21(1)(c)(i) is material harm looked at in light of the circumstances affecting the 
third party’s competitive or negotiating position.36 
 
 Parties’ Positions, s. 21(1)(c)(i)  
 
[61] The City and SLR say that disclosing the disputed information would 
significantly harm SLR’s competitive position and significantly interfere with 
SLR’s negotiating position.37  

 

[62] SLR explains that the City will soon need contractors to perform 
environmental remediation work on the Land that SLR wishes to perform. If 
SLR’s competitors are able to access the disputed information, SLR says that 
those competitors could unfairly use this information while submitting competing 
bids for the remediation work.  
 
[63] In response to these arguments, the applicant says that the prospective 
contracting work has already been awarded to SLR so there can be no harm to 
SLR’s competitive position in respect of the Land’s remediation work. The 
applicant points to several statements made by City employees which suggest 
that SLR has already been hired to complete some excavation work on the 
Land.38  In reply to this argument, SLR explains that this excavation work is 

 
34 City’s submission at p. 2; SLR’s initial submission at p. 9; WFP’s initial submission at para. 37; 
and Applicant’s response submission at pp. 3 and 4. 
35  Order 00-22, 2000 CanLII 14389 (BC IPC) at p. 8; and Order F18-28, 2018 BCIPC 31 (CanLII) 
at para. 58. 
36 Order 00-10, 2000 CanLII 11042 (BC IPC), at p. 11. 
37 City’s submission at p. 2; and SLR’s initial submission at p. 3. 
38 Applicant’s response submission at p. 2. 
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limited and distinguishable from the full range of remediation services that it 
recommended in the Reports.39 
 
[64] Finally, the applicant argues that the sheer variety of approaches to 
remediation and the numerous development options for the Land means that it is 
too speculative to know whether the disputed information will be relevant or 
helpful for SLR’s competitors’ future bids.40 
 

Analysis and Findings, s. 21(1)(c)(i)  
 
[65] At the outset, I am satisfied by SLR’s explanation that SLR has not yet 
secured contracts to perform all of the recommended remediation work. The fact 
that SLR wrote the Reports and has already performed some preliminary 
excavation work does not necessarily mean that SLR will be the successful 
proponent for most of the remediation work. 
 
[66] The essence of the City’s and SLR’s argument is that disclosure would 
harm SLR’s current competitive position by providing its competitors with the 
same knowledge that SLR already has. A longstanding principle under FIPPA is 
that disclosure to an applicant should be considered disclosure to the world,41 so 
I accept that disclosure to the applicant would place this information in the hands 
of those competitors. 
 
[67] Beginning with SLR’s commercial and financial information, I do not 
consider the value of this information to be as speculative as the applicant 
submits. Disclosing this information would reveal SLR’s costing strategies, 
funding sources, and its preferred approach to remediation of similar sites to the 
Land.42 In my view, any sophisticated environmental remediation firm could use 
this information to determine the cost, speed, and methodologies used by SLR to 
accomplish similar remediation work while placing no reciprocal obligation on 
those competitors to disclose their own information.  
 
[68] I find it reasonable to conclude that SLR’s competitors could then use this 
information to mimic SLR’s methodologies or undercut the cost of SLR’s bids, 
whether in respect of the Land’s remediation or in competitions for similar 
remediation work. Past orders have found that such outcomes constitute 
significant harm to a third party’s competitive position.43 In the circumstances of 
this matter, I am similarly satisfied that if SLR’s competitors obtained this 

 
39 SLR’s reply submission at p. 1; and Affidavit #2 of DM at para. 2.  

40 Applicant’s submission at p. 4. 
41 Order 03-33, 2003 CanLII 49212 (BC IPC) at para. 44. 
42 Affidavit #1 of DM, at paras. 7, and 9-10. 
43 Order F09-22, 2009 CanLII 63564 (BC IPC) at para. 37; and Order F13-17, 2013 BCIPC 22 
(CanLII) at paras. 35-37. 
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information, it could reasonably be expected to significantly harm SLR’s 
competitive position.  
 
[69] Turning to the disputed technical and scientific information of SLR, it is 
patently obvious that SLR will use this information to increase its chances of 
winning the remaining remediation work on the Land. SLR’s competitors do not 
currently have access to this information, therefore, SLR’s competitive position is 
currently one of advantage.44 If this information is disclosed, I accept there is 
a reasonable expectation that SLR’s competitive position could be significantly 
harmed because SLR’s competitors would gain the same detailed knowledge of 
the Land that SLR currently possesses. 
 
[70] I recognize that the City may ultimately proceed with an entirely different 
remediation plan than the one that SLR proposes. There is also uncertainty in the 
type and amount of information that the City will disclose in the competition for 
the remediation work. Despite this uncertainty however, I note that the scientific 
and technical information in this matter includes more than a suggested 
approach to remediation. It also describes the biochemical conditions of the 
Land, identifies missing information, and proposes further testing at specific 
locations on the Land. The extensive nature of the disputed scientific and 
technical information means that it can serve as a step-by-step guide as to how, 
where, and why the preliminary testing should be done. 
 
[71] Therefore, given what the scientific and technical information reveals, I 
find disclosure of the information at issue could allow SLR’s competitors to level 
the playing field regarding a successful bid for the Land’s remediation work. This 
would completely eliminate SLR’s existing competitive position. For these 
reasons, I find that disclosing the disputed scientific and technical information 
could reasonably be expected to significantly harm SLR’s current competitive 
position regarding any further remediation work of the Land and its ability to 
compete for that work.  
 
[72] In summary, I find that disclosing the disputed commercial, financial, 
scientific, or technical information could reasonably be expected to significantly 
harm SLR’s competitive position under s. 21(1)(c)(i). 
 
[73] I will next consider the City and SLR’s arguments that disclosure would 
significantly interfere with SLR’s negotiating position. I find their submissions 
generally frame the future remediation work as resulting from a competitive 
bidding process rather than one of negotiations between the City and its 
contractors. It is not apparent from the material before me who SLR must 
negotiate with, what their negotiating position is, and why disclosure would 
significantly interfere with that position. Therefore, I find that the City has not 

 
44 Affidavit #1 of DM at paras. 4 and 8; and Affidavit #2 of DM at para. 4. 
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established that disclosure of the information in dispute would significantly 
interfere with SLR’s negotiating position.   
 
[74] Thus far, I have only considered the impact of disclosure to SLR. 
However, I note that both WFP and the City argued that disclosure would harm 
WFP’s interests under ss. 21(1)(c)(i) and (iii).45 As discussed above, these issues 
are now irrelevant because the information whose disclosure WFP says would 
lead to these harms is no longer sought by the applicant and therefore no longer 
in dispute.46 
 

Undue Financial Gain or Loss, s. 21(1)(c)(iii) 
 
[75] Section 21(1)(c)(iii) says that the head of a public body must not disclose 
information if it could reasonably be expected to result in undue financial loss or 
gain to any person or organization. Undue gains or losses are excessive, 
disproportionate, unwarranted, inappropriate, unfair, or improper, having regard 
to the circumstances of each case. Undue gains include advantages received by 
a competitor effectively for nothing.47  

 
[76] I determined that the City must refuse to disclose all of the commercial, 
financial, scientific, and technical information of SLR under s. 21(1)(c)(i) because 
disclosure can be reasonably expected to significantly harm SLR’s competitive 
position. Therefore, it is unnecessary for me to additionally consider whether the 
City must refuse to disclose this information under ss. 21(1)(c)(iii) or (ii).  
 

No longer supplied, s. 21(1)(c)(ii) 
 
[77] Section 21(1)(c)(ii) says that the head of a public body must refuse 
disclosure if doing so could reasonably be expected to result in similar 
information no longer being supplied to the public body when it is in the public 
interest that similar information continue to be supplied.  
 

Parties Positions, s. 21(1)(c)(ii)  
 
[78] There remains a small amount of technical and scientific information of 
WFP in the August 4 Report that I found WFP supplied in confidence to the City, 
who then forwarded it to SLR for analysis and recommendations.  
 
[79] The City expects that disclosing this information will lead to the City no 
longer receiving similar information in other transactions.48 The City additionally 

 
45 City’s submission at p. 1. 
46 WFP’s reply submission at para. 1. 
47 Order F14-58, 2014 BCIPC 62 (CanLII), at para. 54; and Order 00-10, 2000 CanLII 11042 (BC 
IPC) at pp. 17-19. 
48 City’s submission at p. 3. 
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says that it is “inconceivable” that WFP or another sophisticated commercial 
entity would supply the City with similar information about their unsold assets 
without a reasonable expectation that the City will keep this information 
confidential.49  

 

[80] WFP has not seen the August 4 Report, so it does not know what exactly 
it says. However, WFP says generally that if the City’s assurances of 
confidentiality cannot be trusted when WFP shares its confidential information, 
then this would harm its relationship with the City and that WFP would be 
unwilling to provide such “full and frank disclosure” in the future.50  
 

Analysis and Findings, s. 21(1)(c)(ii) 
 
[81] One entity’s unwillingness to supply information without assurances of 
confidentiality is typically not enough to establish that similar information will not 
be supplied to a public body under s. 21(1)(c)(ii). This is particularly the case if 
there are other incentives for supplying the disputed information or multiple 
entities who can supply similar information.51 The fact that one third party insists 
on confidentiality does not mean that similar information will not be supplied by 
other third parties in the future. Therefore, to establish that s. 21(1)(c)(ii) applies 
in this matter, the City must show that disclosing the information at issue could 
reasonably be expected to result in other entities, and not just WFP, becoming 
unwilling to supply similar information. 
 
[82] In this case, WFP held an asset that the City sought to purchase. At the 
time WFP supplied information to the City, the City had to weigh the time and 
cost savings of receiving information from WFP in confidence against the 
considerable cost and delay of procuring this information itself. WFP’s position as 
a seller meant that it had little reason to supply this information, especially given 
that it could instead require the City to procure this information at its own cost. 
This context is important because, when considering whether other entities would 
be willing to supply similar information to the City in the future, I must recognize 
that those other entities are commercial real estate owners who normally would 
not supply this information to a prospective buyer.   
 
[83] The in-camera portions of WFP’s evidence explain why commercial real 
estate sales typically require purchasers (such as the City in this case) to 
undertake all of their own investigations, as opposed to the seller supplying 
scientific or technical information as WFP did.52 I cannot repeat these 
explanations without revealing the actual content of the material received in 

 
49 City’s submission at p. 2. 
50 Affidavit #1 of AS, at paras. 26 and 27. 
51 Order F20-41, 2020 BCIPC 49 (CanLII) at paras. 57-58; and Order F20-55, 2020 BCIPC 64 
(CanLII) at para. 47. 
52 Affidavit #1 of AS at para. 24. 
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camera, but WFP’s evidence satisfies me that there are universal business 
concerns among commercial sellers of real estate that strongly weigh against 
supplying similar information if those sellers cannot be certain that the 
information will be kept confidential. This evidence helps me to understand that 
those concerns are not unique to WFP and why WFP would be unwilling to 
supply similar information in the future. 
 
[84] I have also considered whether WFP supplied this information under 
a financial incentive or a contractual obligation. Some past orders have declined 
to apply s. 21(1)(c)(ii) where the supply of information was made under these 
circumstances.53 In this case, WFP explains that it supplied this information at 
the City’s request in order to further its negotiations with the City.54 There is no 
evidence or argument before me that WFP was statutorily required, contractually 
obliged, or financially incentivized to supply this information to the City when it 
did. The parties’ evidence establishes WFP was not expected to provide this 
information to the City and that the City, as the potential buyer of the Land, would 
have ordinarily been required to do its own research and due diligence. 
Therefore, the whole of the material before me satisfies me that WFP supplied 
this information voluntarily once it had the City’s assurances of confidentiality. 
 
[85] Having considered the circumstances and submissions described above, I 
am persuaded that disclosing WFP’s scientific and technical information, as it 
appears in the August 4 Report, could reasonably be expected to lead to similar 
information no longer being supplied to the City in the future. 
 
[86] Next, I must determine whether it is in the public interest for similar 
information to continue to be supplied. Few orders have considered what kind of 
information is in the “public interest” under s. 21(1)(c)(ii). In Order 03-05, former 
Commissioner Loukidelis found that the public interest threshold under 
s. 21(1)(c)(ii) was met where information from similar third-party businesses was 
beneficial and of value to the public body, and because that kind of information 
was relevant to the public body’s activities.55  
 
[87] I can see that the technical and scientific information supplied by WFP 
allowed the City to begin development and remediation planning without incurring 
the upfront cost of testing the Land. The City argues that not receiving similar 
information would require it to hire consultants to complete work that was already 
completed by others. The City says that the cost of obtaining similar information 
using its own resources would be costly to the point of causing financial hardship 
to the City and taxpayers.56 

 
53 See for example, Order F15-53, 2015 BCIPC 56 (CanLII), at para. 32; and Order 03-05, 2003 
CanLII 49169 (BC IPC), at paras. 15-17. 
54 Affidavit #1 of AS at para. 14. 
55 Order 03-05, 2003 CanLII 49169 (BC IPC) at para. 20. 
56 City’s submission at p. 3. 
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[88] I have also considered the large scope of the Land remediation project, 
the size and means of the City, and the expense of reproducing information that 
a seller would otherwise be willing to supply confidentially. Scientific and 
technical information about real estate assets that the City seeks to purchase 
with public funds is clearly relevant to the City’s real estate development 
activities. Additionally, receiving such information as early and as cost-effectively 
as possible leads to significant time and cost savings to the City. Therefore, I find 
that it is in the public interest for similar information to continue to be supplied to 
the City. 
 
[89] In summary, I find that disclosure of WFP’s technical and scientific 
information in the August 4 Report could reasonably be expected to result in 
similar information no longer being supplied to the City when it is in the public 
interest that similar information continue to be supplied. Therefore, the City must 
refuse to disclose this information under s. 21(1)(c)(ii).  
 
Conclusions, s. 21(1) 
 
[90] The City has established that almost all of the information in dispute is 
scientific, technical, financial, or commercial information of or about a third party 
under s. 21(1)(a), and that this information was supplied to the City explicitly in 
confidence under s. 21(1)(b).  
 
[91] I find that disclosing this information can be reasonably expected to 
significantly harm SLR’s competitive position under s. 21(1)(c)(i). Disclosing 
some scientific or technical information of WFP can be reasonably expected to 
result in similar information no longer being supplied to the City despite it being in 
the public interest for similar information to continue to be supplied, which 
engages s. 21(1)(c)(ii). The City must refuse to disclose all of this information to 
the applicant under s. 21(1).  
 
[92] A small amount of disputed information is not the financial, commercial, 
scientific, or technical information of or about any third parties, so s. 21(1)(a) 
does not apply to it. The City has not established that all three parts of s. 21(1) 
apply to this information so it is not required or authorized to refuse to disclose 
this information under s. 21(1). 

CONCLUSION 
 
[93] For the reasons given above, I make the following order under s. 58 of 
FIPPA: 
 

1. Subject to item 2 below, the City is required under s. 21(1) to refuse to 
disclose the information in dispute to the applicant. 
 

2. The City is not required to refuse to disclose the information I have 
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highlighted, in green, in the copy of the records provided to the City with 
this order. Therefore, the City must give the applicant access to the 
highlighted information.  
 

3. When the City complies with item 2 above, it must concurrently provide 
the OIPC Registrar of Inquires with a copy of the records and any 
accompanying cover letter sent to the applicant.  

 
[94] Under s. 59 of FIPPA, the City is required to give the applicant access to 
the information that it is not required to withhold by May 10, 2024. 
 
 
March 27, 2024 
 
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY 
    
Alexander R. Lonergan, Adjudicator 

OIPC File No.:  F22-88646 
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Council Report – April 17, 2024 
Council of Forest Industries (COFI) 
 

 

 
 
  

 

John Douglas 
City Councillor 

    
 

A City Hall, 4850 Argyle Street, Port Alberni, BC V9Y 1V8  
  

W portalberni.ca   
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

The City of Port Alberni would like to acknowledge and recognize that we work, live and play on the unceded 
territories of the Tseshaht [c ̓išaaʔatḥ] and Hupačasath First Nations. 

 
 

First Nations, housing, homelessness, climate change, wild fire challenges and 
innovation…these were refreshing topics to find front and center at this forest industry 
leadership conference in Vancouver. Although much of the initial perceptions have been of 
doom and gloom in the forest industry, this conference embodied a sense of hope; a sense of 
new approaches; a sense of prosperity ahead.  
 
I was privileged to be invited to this conference and fortunate to connect with some significant 
players in the industry, as well as political leaders and ministry staff relevant to some of our 
local issues……including discussions around Community Forest and access to or through 
privately owned lands.  
 
Cultural partnerships such as the recently announced Iskum Investing Group was one focus of 
the conference. Iskum is a unified partnership of First Nations across Vancouver Island and the 
BC coast aiming to “expedite and support the evolution of the BC Forest sector”. It is chaired by 
Robert Dennis Snr., former Chief Councillor of the Huu-ay-aht First Nation.  

Some other prime topics were the move towards Mass Timber production facilities and 
following on that, the needed changes in building codes towards increased density and the use 
of mass timber construction in smaller as well as large projects. Finland, Sweden and Denmark 
were singled out as being far ahead and shining symbols of where we need to go.  
 
The concept of central energy production (District Energy) which can then be distributed 
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City Councillor 
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The City of Port Alberni would like to acknowledge and recognize that we work, live and play on the unceded 
territories of the Tseshaht [c ̓išaaʔatḥ] and Hupačasath First Nations. 

 
 

throughout large facilities in a community (and often actually generate revenue) was another 
common theme, as often it is forestry related producers who can produce energy as a sideline 
to their operations.  
 
A discussion regarding access issues revealed that (apparently) some significant progress has 
been occurring to open up certain sections of back roads in our valley. Stay tuned for that.  

One of the benefits I learned from COFI is that many government staff attend. This enabled 
some discussions about community forests and may prove helpful in enhancing the 
engagement of our own Alberni Community Forest and increasing the options to be brought to 
the valley.  
Premier David Eby confirmed what was being said throughout the conference - that everybody 
First Nations, labour, business and government -must work together to form new and more 
effective solutions to enhancing the productivity and the sustainability of our forest. He 
confirmed that in his view this is being done and that his long-term view is very optimistic.  

As one presenter from a forestry-based community similar to ours said: “We get to look at the 
Finland stuff, we get to look at the Swedish stuff, now we get to make it Canadian and ‘do a do 
over’! 

Respectfully submitted, 
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City Councillor Report 
April 17, 2024 
 
Thursday, April 4th 
Meet with Pat Deakin reference MRDT update 
 
Friday, April 5th  
Chamber Breakfast with MP Gord Johns 
Our MP gave us an update and answered questions from Chamber members.  MP Johns is on a 13 city 
tour and wants to hear everyone’s issues.  He mentioned how much investment our community has had.  
The debt small businesses are having.   Affordability issues, housing crisis, labor market crisis, drug 
problems and so much more. 
  
Monday, April 8th 
Childcare Centre Tour (Rollin Art Centre) 
Looking forward to the 88 much needed new childcare spaces to open. 4.1 million grant through the 
Childcare BC New Spaces Fund.  Total grant increase of 538,114 received. 
The centre is bright and assessable.  Two playgrounds for the kids attending the centre.  Watch for details 
on the opening. 
 
Monday, April 8th 
Council Meeting 
 
Tuesday, April 9th 
Accessibility Meeting 
Discussion with members regarding the online survey results people across the Alberni  
Valley and the West Coast.  108 responded to the survey (27 - with disabilities, 32 - close to someone 
with disabilities- age range 31 to 54.  Some issues with municipal facilities and infrastructure.  Outdoor 
spaces parks and pathways.  Transportation infrastructure sidewalks and parking accessibility.  Parking 
enforcement for people who park in the handicap parking.  Need to educate people.  Stay tune for more 
from the Accessibility Committee 
 
Thursday, April 11th to Sunday April 14th  
AVICC Convention – Victoria 
 
Association of Vancouver Island and Coastal Communities what does this organization do?  AVICC is a 
body formed for the purpose of representing in one organization the various municipalities, regional 
districts and other local governments of Vancouver Island, Sunshine Coast, qathet/Powell River, the North 
Coast and the Central Coast.  The Association is one of five area associations of local governments within 
the province of BC.  They operate under the umbrella of the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM).  The 
objectives are to secure united action among its member to promote greater autonomy within local 
government in cooperation with the UBCM and other associations of  municipalities and regional districts 
in BC for the advancement of the principles of local government.  
 
HIGHLIGHTS AVICC 
 
Networking with other communities is important and reaching out how they are working through their 
issues.  All our resolutions presented voted, passed and next steps UBCM.  It’s always interesting to hear 
everyone’s resolutions some are like Port Alberni’s and some not. 
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 Metchosin Farm to Table Tour where a person could see first-hand how food production is sustainable in 
our communities.  We arrived at Stillmeadow Farm, operating for 70 years.  They raise lamb and pork 
and produces hay and grain and their own feed.  Their customers include butchers and restaurants in 
Victoria and the Mainland.  Next door to this farm is Sea Bluff Far 10-acre piece of land with a unique 
micro-climate that grows fruits and veggies and features a farmstand and an event space. 
 
Keynote Speaker – Diane Kalen-Sukra  
Civic Leaders Unite:  Addressing Culture Risk, Fostering Social Cohesion.  Toxic culture is eroding our 
sense of belonging, community, and well-being.  (Not just in Port Alberni but every community).  Our 
capacity to collaborate and innovate together is also being undermined by the rising incivility and 
divisiveness.  This poses a risk to our local governments and communities.   
 
Tracy Lorenson - Striking the Balance: Engagement and Respect 
This session explored strategies aimed at enhancing community engagement and fostering a culture of 
respect.  Attendees discussed actionable tools to balance effective public communication, conflict 
resolution, and collaborative community efforts.  Discussing the importance of establishing clear 
boundaries to secure respectful interactions and mitigate potential violent scenarios, crucial for both 
personal safety and the integrity of the democratic process. 
 
I would like to say thankyou to ACRD Sproat Lake Penny Cote for serving as President of the AVICC 
(two-year term) as she takes on her new role – Past President. 
 
Monday, April 15th 
Special Meeting of Council and Committee of the Whole 
 
 
 
Repectively Submitted 
 
Cindy Solda 
City Councillor 
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of April 22, 2024 

               
 
 

Date:  April 11, 2024 
File No:  Legal File No.  757 [2240-20-757] 
 

To:  Mayor & Council 
From:  M. Fox, Chief Administrative Officer 
Subject: BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement [AOA] | 2024-25 
              
  

Prepared by: 
 

ANDREW MCGIFFORD 

Director of Finance  
 

Supervisor: 

M. FOX 

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE 
OFFICER 

CAO Concurrence: 
 

 
 

Mike Fox, CAO  

 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to execute the BC Transit| 2024 - 2025 Annual Operating 
Agreement between the City of Port Alberni and British Columbia Transit as attached to the staff report dated 
April 11, 2024 and in effect from April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025.  
 
PURPOSE 
To receive Council's authorization to execute the BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement [AOA] – 2024-25, 
covering the period from April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of Port Alberni enters into the AOA with BC Transit to provide transit service within the City. The AOA 
provides a shared service funding model with the province.  BC Transit assumptions for revenues related to 
farebox cash, tickets and passes are based on our most current information and trends. The service agreement 
with BC Transit is considered in our '2024-2028 Financial Plan' and is based on projections provided in late 
2023. 
 
 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 
1. That the Mayor and the Director of Corporate Services be authorized to execute the BC Transit| 2024 - 

2025 Annual Operating Agreement between the City of Port Alberni and British Columbia Transit as 
attached to the staff report dated April 11, 2024 and in effect from April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025.  

2. That Council decline authorizing execution of the BC Transit 2024-2025 Annual Operating Agreement 
and seek to cease services.  

3. That Council provide alternate direction, such as a change in the level of service.  
 

ANALYSIS 
The AOA costs have been considered in the ‘2024-2028 Financial Plan’. Should Council not concur with the 
recommendation, any changes would take time to implement and the City would continue with the current 
level of service until that service level is changed and new AOA is in place. Service level changes or cancellation 
would require 180 days written notice. 
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Regular Meeting of Council 
Staff Report – BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement [AOA] | 2024-25 

April 11, 2024 
   

P a g e  2 | 2 

 

IMPLICATIONS 
The City of Port Alberni’s 2024-2028 Financial Plan includes provisions for the BC Transit AOA for 2024-2025 
therefore there are no additional financial implications related to execution of the agreement. Should Council 
elect not to execute the BC Transit AOA for 2024-2025 City public transit service would be affected.  
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
Following Council authorization, the agreement will be signed and forwarded to BC Transit. 

 
BYLAWS/PLANS/POLICIES 
n/a 
 
SUMMARY 

• The AOA is an annual agreement with BC Transit and has been in place for many years to deliver transit 
service in the City of Port Alberni.  

• The 2024-2028 Financial Plan includes provisions to operate the transit service, the estimated financial 
implications associated with senior government funding support. 

 
ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS  

• BC Transit 2024-2025 Annual Operating Agreement 
 
c: S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services 
 
J:\Finance\Director\Agenda Reports & Procedures\Dir Finance Council Memos\2023\BC_Transit_AOA_2023-27.docx 
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ANNUAL OPERATING AGREEMENT 
 
 

between 
 
 

City of Port Alberni 
 
 

and 
 
 

British Columbia Transit 
 
 

Effective 
April 1, 2024 
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ANNUAL OPERATING AGREEMENT 
April 1, 2024 – March 31, 2025 

 
 
BETWEEN: City of Port Alberni 
  (the "Municipality") 
 
AND:  British Columbia Transit 
  (the "Authority") 
 
WHEREAS the Authority is authorized to contract for transit services for the purpose of providing and 
maintaining those services and facilities necessary for the establishment, maintenance and operation of a 
public passenger transportation system in the Transit Service Area; 

WHEREAS the Municipality is authorized to enter into one or more agreements with the Authority for transit 
services in the Transit Service Area;  

WHEREAS the parties hereto have entered into a Transit Service Agreement which sets out the general rights 
and responsibilities of the parties hereto; 
WHEREAS the Municipality and the Authority are authorized to share in the costs for the provision of a Public 
Passenger Transportation System pursuant to the British Columbia Transit Act;  
AND WHEREAS the parties hereto wish to enter into an Annual Operating Agreement which sets out, 
together with the Transit Service Agreement, the specific terms and conditions for the Public Passenger 
Transportation System for the upcoming term. 
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that in consideration of the premises and of the 
covenants hereinafter contained, the parties covenant and agree with each other as follows: 

SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS 
Unless agreed to otherwise in the Annual Operating Agreement, the definitions set out in the Transit Service 
Agreement shall apply to this Annual Operating Agreement including: 

a) “Annual Operating Agreement” shall mean this Annual Operating Agreement and any Annual 
Operating Agreement Amendments negotiated and entered into by the parties subsequent hereto; 

b) “Transit Service Agreement” shall mean the Transit Service Agreement between the parties to this 
Annual Operating Agreement, including any amendments made thereto; 

c) “Incurred” means an event or transaction has taken place for which an obligation to pay exists, even if 
an invoice has not been received, such that the underlying evidence indicates there is little or no 
discretion to avoid the obligation. The value of the obligation is to be calculated in accordance with 
recognized Canadian accounting standards. 

SECTION 2: INCORPORATION OF SCHEDULES 
All schedules to this agreement are incorporated into the agreement, and form part of the agreement. 

SECTION 3: INCORPORATION OF TRANSIT SERVICE AGREEMENT 
Upon execution, this Annual Operating Agreement shall be deemed integrated into the Transit Service 
Agreement and thereafter, the Transit Service Agreement and Annual Operating Agreement shall be read 
together as a single integrated document and shall be deemed to be the Annual Operating Agreement for the 
purposes of the British Columbia Transit Act, as amended from time to time.
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SECTION 4: TERM AND RENEWAL 

a) The parties agree that the effective date of this agreement is to be April 1, 2024, whether or not the 
agreements have been fully executed by the necessary parties. Once this agreement and the 
associated Transit Service Agreement are duly executed, this agreement will replace all provisions in 
the existing Transit Service Agreement and Master Operating Agreement with respect to the rights and 
obligations as between the Authority and the Municipality. 

b) Upon commencement in accordance with Section 4(a) of this agreement, the term of this agreement 
shall be to March 31, 2025, except as otherwise provided herein. It is acknowledged by the parties 
that in the event of termination or non-renewal of the Annual Operating Agreement, the Transit Service 
Agreement shall likewise be so terminated or not renewed, as the case may be. 

c) Either party may terminate this agreement as follows: 

i. Cancellation by the Authority: In the event that the Authority decides to terminate this 
Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Authority shall provide at least one hundred and 
eighty (180) days prior written notice. Such notice to be provided in accordance with 
Section 12. 

ii. Cancellation by the Municipality: In the event that the Municipality decides to terminate this 
Transit Service Agreement for any reason whatsoever, and by extension, the Annual 
Operating Agreement, the Municipality shall provide at least one hundred and eighty (180) 
days prior written notice. Such notice to be provided in accordance with Section 12. 

SECTION 5: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT  
This Agreement and the parties hereto are subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information and 
Protection of Privacy Act (FOIPPA). Any information developed in the performance of this Agreement, or any 
personal information obtained, collected, or stored pursuant to this Agreement, including database 
information, shall be deemed confidential and subject to the provisions of FOIPPA, including the handling, 
storage, access and security of such information. Confidential information shall not be disclosed to any third 
party except as expressly permitted by the Authority or pursuant to the requirements of FOIPPA. 

SECTION 6: SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES 
In the event of any dispute arising between or among the parties as to their respective rights and obligations 
under this Agreement, or in the event of a breach of this Agreement, the parties agree to use their best efforts 
to find resolution through a mediated settlement. However, in the event that mediation is not successful in 
finding a resolution satisfactory to all parties involved, any party shall be entitled to give to the other notice of 
such dispute and to request arbitration thereof; and the parties may, with respect to the particular matter then 
in dispute, agree to submit the same to a single arbitrator in accordance with the applicable statutes of the 
Province of British Columbia.  

SECTION 7: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

a) Amendment: This agreement may only be amended in writing as signed by the Municipality and the 
Authority and specifying the effective date of the amendment. 

b) Assignment: This Agreement shall not be assignable without prior written consent of the parties. 

c) Enurement: This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 
their respective successors. 

d) The parties agree that this agreement is in substantial compliance with all relevant legislative 
requirements to establish the rights and obligations of the parties as set out in the British Columbia 
Transit Act. 
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SECTION 8: LOCAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND RESERVES 

British Columbia Transit service is provided using a cost-sharing model. Where any transit-related 
contributions are received and/or third-party revenues are earned that are in excess of expenses, the 
Authority is required to hold these excess funds in a reserve account for use against transit-related 
expenditures in future years. When unanticipated expenditures occur that were not included in the budget and 
cannot be covered by reserves, the Authority will seek to recover these based on the cost-sharing ratios 
between the Municipality and the Authority. 
 
Eligible Operating Expenses 
The Authority will invoice the Municipality and collect on monthly invoices based on incurred eligible operating 
expenses to provide Transit Service. Eligible operating expenses are comprised of the following costs of 
providing Public Passenger Transportation Systems: 

a) For Conventional Transit Service: 
i. the operating costs for providing Conventional Transit Service excluding interest and 

amortization; 
ii. the amount of any operating lease costs of BC Transit for Conventional Transit Services; 
iii. the amount of the municipal administration charge not exceeding 2% of the direct operating 

costs payable under an Annual Operating Agreement; 
iv. an amount of the annual operating costs of the authority not exceeding those costs payable 

under an Annual Operating Agreement. 
b) For Custom and Paratransit Transit Service: 

i. the operating costs for providing Custom Transit Service excluding interest and amortization, 
but including the amount paid by the Authority to redeem taxi saver coupons issued under the 
Taxi Saver Program after deducting from that amount the amount realized from the sale of 
those coupons; 

ii. the amount of any operating lease costs of the Authority for Custom Transit Service; 
iii. the amount of the municipal administration charge not exceeding 2% of the direct operating 

costs payable under an Annual Operating Agreement; and 
iv. an amount of the annual operating costs of the authority not exceeding those costs payable 

under an Annual Operating Agreement. 

c) Eligible operating expenses exclude the costs of providing third-party 100%-funded services. 
d) Annual operating costs of the Authority are operations, maintenance and administration costs that are 

for the shared benefit of all transit systems operated by the Authority. These costs are allocated to 
each transit system on a pro rata basis, based on the nature of the costs.  

 
Lease Fees 
The Authority will invoice the Municipality and collect on monthly invoices for lease fees on tangible capital 
assets owned by the Authority that are used in the provision of transit service. Lease fees are comprised of 
the following:  

a) The Municipality’s fee for use of the asset, including for the costs of acquisition, construction, 
development and betterment of the asset and the costs of installing the asset at the location and 
condition necessary for its intended use; 

b) Debt financing and risk-related charges or costs payable on assets;  

c) Payment into a reserve fund for preventative maintenance and major repair of assets owned or leased 
by the authority; 

d) Amounts sufficient for the Authority to recover all other costs relating to the asset, including, but not 
limited to taxes and administrative charges. 
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Where lease fees are received that exceed actual asset-related expenses in any given period, these will be 
placed in a pooled reserve. This reserve will be used to offset against future lease fees as outlined above. 
 
Reserve Funds 
The Authority will establish the following for each transit system to record the contributions that have been 
received but not yet earned as follows:  

a) Local Transit Fund: Contributions by the Municipality towards eligible operating expenses that have 
been received but not matched with a Provincial share contribution will be deferred in the Local Transit 
Fund. 

i. Any expenditure of monies from the Local Transit Fund will:  
1. only be credited towards the Municipality’s share of expenses for the transit system for 

which it was collected.  
2. be applied to reduce Municipal invoices at the discretion of the Municipality as agreed 

to under the Annual Operating Agreement or amendments as required.  
ii. The Local Transit Fund may be used towards lease fees. 
iii. The Authority will provide a quarterly statement of account of the Local Transit Fund balance 

including contributions, amounts utilized and interest earned. 

SECTION 9: SAFE RESTART CONTRIBUTION 
Under the Safe Restart Program, the federal and provincial governments provided joint, non-recurring  
contributions to transit systems in British Columbia (the “Safe Restart Contribution”) in 2020/21 and 2021/22. 
 
The Authority applied the Safe Restart Contributions as follows: 

a) As an allocation towards the Municipality’s share of eligible operating expenses in the fiscal year of 
the contribution; 

b) After applying the allocation of Safe Restart Contribution, any excess contributions received from the 
Municipality were deferred to the Local Transit Fund; 

c) The Authority will apply the remaining Local Transit Fund balance to reduce 2022/23 and future 
municipal invoices at the discretion of the Municipality as agreed to under an Annual Operating 
Agreement or amendments as required. 

 
It is expected that by receiving the Safe Restart contribution, the Municipality will work with the Authority to 
maintain targeted essential transit service levels by not reducing transit service below existing planned service 
levels and maintain affordability by limiting annual fare increases to an average of 2.3% from April 1, 2020 
through March 31, 2025. 

SECTION 10: GOVERNING LAW 

This agreement is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the Province of 
British Columbia, with respect to those matters within provincial jurisdiction, and in accordance with the laws 
of Canada with respect to those matters within the jurisdiction of the Government of Canada. 

SECTION 11: COUNTERPARTS 
This contract and any amendment hereto may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to 
be an original and all of which shall be considered to be one and the same contract. A signed facsimile or PDF 
copy of this contract, or any amendment, shall be effective and valid proof of execution and delivery. 
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SECTION 12: NOTICES AND COMMUNICATIONS 

All notices, claims and communications required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and 
shall be sufficiently given if personally delivered to a designated officer of the parties hereto to whom it is 
addressed where an electronic signed document is emailed to the parties or if mailed by prepaid registered 
mail to the Authority at: 
 

British Columbia Transit 
c/o Executive Assistant, Strategy and Public Affairs 
PO Box 9861 
520 Gorge Road East 
Victoria, BC  V8W 9T5 

 
and to the Municipality at: 
 

City of Port Alberni 
4850 Argyle Street 
Prince Alberni, BC  V9Y 1V8 
 

and, if so mailed, shall be deemed to have been received five (5) days following the date of such mailing. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hand this _______ day of ___________, 2024. 
 
 
City of Port Alberni 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
British Columbia Transit 
 
 
 
Vice President, Strategy and Public Affairs 
 
 
 
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer 
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SCHEDULE A: TARIFF AND FARES  

Port Alberni Conventional Transit 

Product Audience Price 
Cash All $2.00 

Tickets (10) All $18.00 

dayPASS All $4.00 

30-day Pass Adult $48.00 

30-day Pass Student/Senior $25.00 

Semester Pass College $100.00 

 Child 12 and under Free 
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SCHEDULE B: SERVICE SPECIFICATIONS 

 
Effective April 1, 2019 
 
Port Alberni Conventional Service: 
 
The Local Transit Service Area for Port Alberni conventional service shall be the municipal boundaries of the 
Corporation of the City of Port Alberni.  

The Annual Service Level for Port Alberni conventional service shall be 12,500 Revenue Service Hours 

The Exception Days recognized annually for the Port Alberni conventional service are: 
 

Exception Days Service Level 

Good Friday Sunday 

Easter Monday Sunday 

Victoria Day Sunday 

Canada Day Sunday 

BC Day Sunday 

Labour Day Sunday 

Truth and Reconciliation Day Sunday 

Thanksgiving Day Sunday 

Remembrance Day Sunday 

Christmas Day No Service 

Boxing Day Sunday 

New Year’s Day Sunday 

Family Day Sunday 
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Regular Council Meeting 
For the Meeting of April 22, 2024 

               
 
 

Date:  April 17, 2024 
File No:  1835-20-2023 
 

To:  Mayor & Council 
From:  Mike Fox, CAO 
Subject: Asset Retirement Obligations | Period Ending December 31, 2023 
              
  

Prepared by: 
 

ANDREW MCGIFFORD 

Director of Finance  
 

Supervisor: 

MIKE FOX 

M. FOX, CHIEF 
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

CAO Concurrence: 
 

 
 

Mike Fox, CAO  

 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT the Asset Retirement Obligations for the period ending December 31, 2023 be received as outlined in the 
staff report dated April 17, 2024.  
 
PURPOSE 
To provide Council the Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO) summary for the period ending December 31, 2023. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Public Sector Accounting Standards are in place to support with decision making; PS 3280 Asset Retirement 
Obligations joins PS 3150 Tangible Capital Assets and PS 3260 Contaminated Sites in helping government 
entities consistently report the financial considerations of assets and their related liabilities within the financial 
statements. Asset retirement obligations is an estimate which will need to be derived from available 
information and will require public sector entities to make judgments and assumptions with the available data 
and the insights of their staff and consultants. 
 
An asset retirement obligation is recognized when there is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in 
relation to a tangible capital asset; the past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred; it is 
expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be 
made. 
 
ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS 

1. THAT the Asset Retirement Obligations for the period ending December 31, 2023 be received as 
outlined in the staff report dated April 17, 2024.  

 
ANALYSIS 
The City must adhere to the Public Sector Accounting Standards to ensure that consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, and represent the financial position of the City, including this 
new accounting standard.  
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Regular Meeting of Council 
Staff Report – Asset Retirement Obligations | Period Ending December 31, 2023 

  April 17, 2024 

P a g e  3 | 3 

 

ATTACHMENTS/REFERENCE MATERIALS  
• Asset Retirement Obligations Policy 3009-4 

c: S. Darling, Director of Corporate Services 
 
J:\Finance\Director\Agenda Reports & Procedures\Dir Finance Council Memos\2024\2024_04_22_RCM_ARO_summary.docx 
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